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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  Welcome to this informational hearing of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee and the Senate Subcommittee on Aging and Long-Term Care.  The subject matter today is:  “Nursing Home Closures, Bankruptcies and Liability Insurance:  Is There a Crisis?”


I want to encourage Members who are joining us today on this very important informational hearing to do so, as your time allows.  I know that we have been assured participation by Members of the standing committee as well as Members of the subcommittee, so I would ask our speakers and our audience to give us a couple of minutes.  Members usually join us as the call of the bell summons them, and it shouldn’t be much time.


But welcome.  


Senator Vasconcellos is one of the key Members that is very committed to this area, and I think the two of us can start the committee hearing, and others will be joining us.


Good afternoon.  I would like to welcome all of you to this hearing today of the Senate Health and Human Services Committee and the Subcommittee on Aging and Long-Term Care on “Nursing Home Closures, Bankruptcies and Liability Insurance.”


First, I would like to acknowledge and thank again the chair of the subcommittee, Senator Vasconcellos, who has been a real leader in this area.  As Members arrive, we’ll allow them an opportunity to welcome you all.


I would also like to thank our witnesses.  I appreciate the willingness of the witnesses to be with us and provide your expertise to policymakers around the state.  Today’s hearing will generate the discussion of critical issues affecting California’s nursing homes that provide care to over 100,000 elderly and disabled residents.  It is also the intent to frame some of the issues that continue to be raised throughout our discussion around quality of care as well as capacity and ability to absorb a huge projected growth in our aging community and a major policy issue that California has to confront and address in a way that frames all the issues, as difficult or as much disagreement there may be.  The intent is that this committee hearing will begin discussing and identifying those issues and looking at possible solutions.


The hearing today seeks to understand whether nursing home closures, bankruptcies, and liability insurance threaten the stability of our state’s nursing homes.  Our first panel will address two aspects of the nursing home closure question in California:  One, the trends and causes of nursing home closures and bankruptcies in California; and two, the closure process – the extent to which existing law is adequate or inadequate and whether or not existing law is being enforced to ensure that residents receive proper planning and care in their transfer between facilities.


We’ll be hearing from Dr. Charlene Harrington and Dr. Martin Kitchener from UCSF who will summarize the findings of the new report that analyzes nursing home closures and bankruptcies.  We will also hear from family members and workers who have experienced firsthand the stress of closure and who will help assess the adequacy of existing law in the closure process.  The second portion of the hearing will focus on the question of liability insurance.  It will explore potential problems with the market.  


This issue came to our attention when we were researching nursing home closures and bankruptcies.  I had asked my staff to embark upon a research project that looked at national trends and California trends; to begin to gather some information on the question of bankruptcies and whether, in fact, the regulatory scheme was burdensome or that it may or may not be a controlling factor in the closures.  It started out as a research project and grew into identifying a lot more of the issues.  


As I said earlier, it will be the beginning of framing the issues.  There may not be any solutions offered today, but I think by airing the issues, we eventually can find the answers with time.  If it is indeed true that these homes are going without liability insurance, as has been represented in some of my tours in the district and discussions, we could find ourselves facing numerous additional closures of nursing homes in the future.  We will assess the extent of that problem, and we’ll explore possible policy options to pursue.


Before we get started, I would like to allow my colleague, Senator John Vasconcellos, who is a co-chair of today’s hearing, and also the chair of the Senate Subcommittee on Aging and Long-Term Care, to make opening remarks.  He has been a leader in this area, and we’re fortunate for his expertise.


SENATOR JOHN VASCONCELLOS:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.


You’ve said about all there is to be said, so I concur with your comments.  Let’s begin the testimony.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


We’ve been joined by Senator Polanco.  We’d like to offer him an opportunity.


Members, let me go through the ground rules to make sure we move through a lot of valuable information quickly and Members have time to jot down questions and panelists to respond to questions by Members.


For the first panel, each witness will testify for five minutes.  I think some of the speakers have been asked to be able to respond to questions after your testimony.  I’m going to actually alter that request.  I prefer that all the panelists on the first panel provide testimony and, after all testimony is complete, then allow the opportunity for Members to weigh in with questions.  The same rules will apply to the second panel, which, I believe, we’re hoping for a roundtable discussion among the panelists, and the same rules to hold questions until the end of that roundtable discussion apply.


Each witness will speak for five minutes; and, again, hold questions until all witnesses have spoken.  So, Members, please jot down your questions while witnesses are speaking but wait until the last speaker to be able to ask them.


I want to invite our first panel of speakers to come to the table.  Please try to complete your testimony in no greater than five minutes.  That will allow ample time for questions from Members.  We’ll start with testimony from Dr. Charlene Harrington and Dr. Martin Kitchener from UCSF who will present the findings of their studies on nursing home closures and bankruptcies.  I want to let Members know those documents are in your packet.  I want to thank the authors and the researchers on this project for your work.


Welcome.


DR. CHARLENE HARRINGTON:  Hello.  I’m Charlene Harrington.  I’m very pleased to be here.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me clarify the timing.  I understand the two of you have been allotted seven minutes.


DR. MARTIN KITCHENER:  Good afternoon.  My name is Martin Kitchener.


Senator Ortiz and Members.  This afternoon I’d like to speak in the allotted five to seven minutes, and I’d like to do three main things.  Firstly, and very briefly, I’d like to introduce the study that we did.  Then, I’d like to brief you through the main findings relating to nursing home bankruptcies and closures, and then offer up for consideration some very broad policy considerations, which are outlined in more detail in our full reports which you should have in front of you.  So, just to reiterate, a brief bit of introduction, then the findings from the studies, and then some pointers towards some policy considerations.


I suppose the genesis of this project lay in the fact that in the year 2000, nearly 1,900 or so nursing homes across the nation were in bankruptcy, and that represents about 11 percent of the total number of nursing homes in the United States.


Fears and concerns about this issue seem to have grown or escalated in California after two well-publicized closure cases; one of which involved bankruptcy as well.  And these cases involved distressing scenes of vulnerable residents being transferred late at night.  They were both examples of sudden nursing home closures.  This, obviously, escalated concern and anxiety amongst politicians and nursing home residents and others, and that really formed the backdrop to our study.


It seemed that very little was known at the outset of our study about nursing home bankruptcies and closures, so the first job of our study was to conduct the first study and try and outline what the real nature and scope of the problems were.  So, that was the groundbreaking map-drawing exercise of the study.  The second part was to conduct a statistical analysis to try and look at the facts as associated with nursing home bankruptcy and closure, and those are the findings I’m about to present now.


As I mentioned earlier, our first job was to try and map out just how many bankruptcies there had been amongst nursing homes in California in the year 2000.  From the data that was available to us that was given to us by the state, by CMS, and the industry associations, we identified 155 nursing homes in California that were in bankruptcy in 2000, and these were all members of chains (multi-facility organizations).


Now, that introduces a very important caveat in our findings in that our prediction models from our statistical analyses only really talk about bankruptcy amongst individual members of chain facilities.  We can’t really generalize our results beyond those.


But that said, we found six important factors that we found to be associated with individual chain members of nursing home facilities that were in bankruptcy, and I’ll go through those now in turn.


Three factors were associated positively with nursing home bankruptcy and individual facility level, and those factors are location within the L.A. Region, which is the counties that form the L.A. Reimbursement Region, higher maintenance costs per day, and nurse/staff turnover rates.  In each case this means that the likelihood of bankruptcy increases with nursing homes being located within the L.A. Region, those nursing homes with higher maintenance costs, and those with higher nurse/staff turnover rates.


Three factors were associated negatively with nursing home bankruptcy, and that was location within the Bay Area – that’s the counties within the Bay Area Reimbursement Region – the percentage of Medicare residents, and administration costs.  This means that higher percentages of Medicare residents, higher administration costs, and being in the Bay Area reduces the likelihood of bankruptcy.


It wasn’t within the formal remit of our study – and it’s a bit too early to comment on the outcomes of nursing home bankruptcy definitively – but we offer, just for consideration, two initial or exploratory findings.


Firstly, only two of the bankrupt chains operating in California – which only constitute eight facilities – actually proceeded from Chapter 11 bankruptcy into Chapter 7 dissolution.  The data isn’t available to know whether they actually closed or whether those homes were just sold.


There were indications that some of the larger chains that are now emerging from bankruptcy may be selling some of their homes in California, but it’s not at all clear that this is actually going to result in closures of those homes.  The jury is still out.  There’s no evidence on that.


Second, in one of those bankrupt homes that closed very suddenly, that I mentioned at the very beginning of this testimony, the state incurred costs of over $2 million in one year alone, resulting from its obligation to temporarily manage those facilities.  We offer that only as a heads-up.


Now we move on to the analysis of the closures.  There’s slightly more surprising results here perhaps.  We had to break the analysis down into two basic analyses.  The first looked at free-standing nursing homes – that’s those which aren’t part of hospitals – and the second analysis looked at those facilities located within hospitals which we call distinct parts of hospitals.  The reason for the separate analyses is incompatible data; you couldn’t compare the two.


So, for the analysis for the free-standing nursing homes first, for the years 1995 to 2001, we identified 32 free-standing nursing facilities that had closed, and this represents only around 3 percent of the homes, or 2 percent of the total beds in the state.  Our statistical analysis identified three factors that were related with these closures:  smaller size, lower occupancy rates, and lower numbers of Medicare residents.


The reasons for these closures weren’t always apparent or known by the state, and, in fact, they’re only known in 18 of the 32 cases.  Only two of the closures that we could identify were actually preceded by bankruptcy.  The most common, single known factor for closure related to poor quality.  In fact, in a number of those cases, the owners of the homes that closed were actually investigated legally for poor quality provision.


In somewhat more of a hidden issue is the issue of distinct part closures.  It’s something that’s received a lot less attention in the press, and it wasn’t actually something that we went out looking for.  It’s something that appeared as our study proceeded.  But we did identify 26 of these facilities that had closed 1996 through 2001.  This actually represents a 10 percent loss in this type of facility.


The factors that were related statistically to distinct part closures:  a for-profit status, fewer nursing home beds, and weaker liability to offset ratios of the hospital level of analysis not amongst the distinct part.  Again, the state only knew of the reasons for closure in 8 of the 26 of these cases, and the reasons were somewhat different from the free-standing facilities in that it most commonly seemed to involve a decision within the hospital to change the nature of the beds from nursing facility beds to general acute care beds.  We should note also that in this type of facility, there is an average occupancy rate of 70 percent amongst these facilities, which indicates that there’s maybe an excess of supply in this area of care anyway.


As noted before, it’s a bit early to start looking at the outcomes of bankruptcies amongst California nursing homes, but we can note the closures are at a very low rate when you consider them within the industry as a whole, and it’s perhaps not much more of a failure rate than you’d expect within any industry, and it’s certainly much less than the 1 percent or so of community hospitals that have been lost every year over the same period.  So, that begins to address your question, maybe, of whether there’s a crisis.


So, we restrict our policy considerations maybe to the information and the quality of information that’s available about nursing homes and the nursing home industry in general.  Maybe what our study did reveal most clearly is that there’s not enough quality information about what is actually going on in the nursing home industry.  We’ve outlined a number of quite clear options that the state might like to look at, and here, just for time, I’ll introduce four.


First, we think that the California Health and Safety Code requirement that nursing home operators report bankruptcy within 24 hours, there should be a system that is introduced to enforce and monitor that requirement.  Only then, maybe, would we be able to identify those independent homes that we weren’t able to identify as being bankrupt in this study.


Second, owner/operators of nursing homes should be or could be required to disclose bankruptcy status and any other major financial organizational factors within their annual renewals of licenses.


Thirdly, the state could look into what’s happening in other states.  We flagged as one example what’s going on in Florida with their early warning system to try and identify those homes that might be problems and track them.  I think the results from our study show some of the issues that might be most useful to look at in terms of that tracking; examples being higher maintenance costs, lower occupancy rates, and higher rates of nurse/staff turnover.


Finally, we’re putting forth the suggestion that operators could be required to post a bond which, in the event of those sudden cases of closure, the state could use to try and set aside some of those catastrophic costs of temporary management and also could help reduce some of the impact to the residents and the staff in the cases of sudden closure.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Kitchener, I appreciate your trying to move through your testimony quickly.  You’ve actually used ten minutes, so I’m going to interrupt.  But thank you, because I think it is important and will frame the issues.  I hope you’re complete with your testimony?


DR. KITCHENER:  Thank you very much, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Next speaker?


Members, you have an Executive Summary on both closure as well as the bankruptcy.  We are addressing them as two separate studies – they’re in your packet – that’ll guide you through the questions as we go forward.


Welcome.  Ms. Stimel-Nelson is next.  You have five minutes.


MS. MICHEL STIMEL-NELSON:  My name is Michel Stimel-Nelson, and here’s my story.


On March 23, 1999, my mother, Jeann Stimel, age 59, had the first of three surgeries to remove or decompress the main tumor sitting at the C-3 level of her spinal cord.  From that day on, Jeann has been ventilator-dependent.  Two days later, there was a second surgery and seven weeks later a third surgery, along with the diagnosis of incomplete quadriplegia with feeling and only involuntary movement below the neck.  Physically, she is dependent on others for her every need, just like a newborn baby.  Jeann cannot scratch an itch, wipe a nose, move a piece of hair from her eye, voluntarily change body positions, take a drink, brush her teeth, blow her nose, or eat.  Movements that we all take for granted.  When she cries, her tears must be wiped away from someone else.  


She was cognizant and fully capable of making her own decisions.  Jeann verbally communicated by using a speaking valve or mouthing words.  She would cry, laugh, express joy and sadness.  She would talk about how she was feeling both emotionally and physically.  She communicated her needs and interacted with others.  She was admitted to Doctors Medical Center hospital, Subacute Unit, on September 13, 1999.  Jeann felt that she was home.  She was close to where she had lived prior to her surgeries.  Family friends and former classmates visited her regularly.  I visited four or five times a week.  Many evenings I would stop by the hospital to feed her dinner.  We enjoyed this time together.


On June 27, 1999, we were given the first of three 30-day notices of the closure of the unit.  Jeann found out about the closure when a representative came around to each bed with a copy of the notice.  This was very upsetting to Jeann, who began a downward spiral.  She began crying constantly, crying out loud, continually moaning.  She started having more stomach pain, vomiting, and headaches.  She stopped eating by mouth which supplemented her tube feedings.  Even though there could be negative consequences, Jeann felt strongly eating by mouth improved her quality of life.


I began to contact other facilities in the area, but there were no available beds.  On Mondays, which was my day off, I began to attend weekly resident council meetings to get updates and ask questions.  These meetings did not provide much information, and support was at a minimum.  I was not contacted by a case manager to discuss the transition until the middle of July.  During the month of July, I made many requests for Jeann’s psychiatrist to evaluate her, as she was crying uncontrollably, becoming easily agitated, angry, unable to sleep, not wanting to be left alone, moaning, calling out, withdrawing, and uncommunicative.  It was not until I spoke to the psychiatrist while passing in the hall that I found out that my requests were never forwarded.


A Cease and Desist was issued by the Department of Health Services for failure to follow the requirements of 1336.2 and 42 CFR 483.12(a)(4).  The Cease and Desist was lifted a few days later.


On August 2nd, I received the last 30-day notice, noting that the transfer location was yet to be determined.  Included with the notice was a list of facilities.  Over the course of a month, I personally contacted these facilities several times to check on available beds for transfer, but I was told none were available.  


The psychiatrist began to see Jeann on August 2nd, the day after I found her with her hand firmly attached to her ventilator tubing.  She had told the hospital staff that she wanted to quit (die).  The psychiatrist told me that Jeann had said she would not harm herself, but he increased the dosages for her antidepressant drugs.


On August 8th, at my mother’s insistence, I informed the nursing staff not to discuss any transfer details or the closure of the unit with her, due to her depression and her declining mental state.  On August 27th, without my knowledge, a nurse serving Jeann lunch informed her that she was being relocated to San Francisco.  Although I had personally visited this facility on two previous occasions, I was told there were no available beds, and I was unaware that she had been accepted.  Unfortunately, this was the only facility to accept Jeann, and she was transferred on Friday, September 1st, the year 2000.  This hospital is a great distance away from Jeann’s 86-year-old mother, her many friends, neighbors, and church members from the San Pablo and Richmond areas.  


Since being moved, Jeann has been progressively declining.  Under severe distress, she no longer communicates by mouth, cannot tolerate the talking valve, and does not even acknowledge questions by closing her eyes for “no” or blinking her eyes for “yes.”  She keeps her eyes closed and her body in the fetal position most of the time.  She is withdrawn.  When one looks into Jeann’s eyes, they are empty and emotionless.  Now she receives required nutrition through a tube directly in her stomach and only takes small sips of liquid.  My only connection with her is to sit at the side of her bed and hold her hand.


In the rental real estate industry where I am employed, landlords give 30-day notices for tenants to move out of rental units.  Facilities must be required to give additional time and consideration, especially when impacting residents by involuntary transfers or unit hospital closures.  Residents of subacute and long-term care facilities are the most fragile and vulnerable people of our society.  Many, especially those who rely on ventilators to breathe, are especially difficult to place in facilities.  These residents must rely on relatives, patient advocates, and friends to locate and then gain approval to appropriate new facilities.  An involuntary transfer impacts not only the resident but also their family and friends.  


In order to minimize stress and trauma, we need to take a closer look at the way that these situations are handled and make the necessary changes needed to avoid additional negative consequences to these vulnerable beings and their loved ones.  These residents are living, breathing, feeling human beings; not numbers or dollar signs added or subtracted to determine the profit or loss of a company.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your very important testimony.  I know it’s difficult, so thank you.


Our next speaker is Ms. Patricia McGinnis.  I’m sure there will be questions from Members of all the speakers.  Thank you for adhering to the time commitments.


Welcome.


MS. PATRICIA McGINNIS:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, members of the committee.  I appreciate the opportunity to address the issue of nursing home closures and the impact of those closures on the residents who have lived there and call these places homes.


Today, I want to talk primarily about the failure of California’s nursing home industry, its public policy, and its enforcement system to protect nursing home residents from the impact of closures, and to suggest what needs to be done to prevent these devastating effects.


In the title of this hearing – “Is There a Crisis?” – I would say, yes, there’s a crisis, but it’s really not whether nursing homes can get liability insurance.  There’s a crisis in care in California, and it’s really time that we started paying attention to it.  We watch, we hear, we see people die every day because of the inadequacy of the kinds of interventions that facilities should take whenever somebody is being closed and the inadequacy of the enforcement system that simply continues to ignore the requirements of California’s nursing homes.


For the majority of California’s nursing home residents and their family members, why a facility closes isn’t nearly as important as what happens to the resident while the facility is closing and where the resident is going to go after the facility closes.  What matters to them is whether the new facility will be close enough for people to visit as often as they could in the old facility, whether the new facility will provide the care and meet the needs that that resident has, and, before they are relocated, whether they’ll receive the kind of relocation services necessary to prevent or reduce transfer trauma, i.e., whether or not the patient will get sick or sicker as a result of the transfer or even die.


Moving is very disruptive at any age, and I ask you to think about the last time you had to move.  Now imagine that you are an ill, dependent, nursing home resident being forced to move abruptly.  Transfer trauma is a very real, well-documented consequence of transfer with very serious and often fatal results.  Residents who are forced to move become agitated, anxious, and disoriented, whether or not they have the capacity to understand where they are.  I can’t tell you the times I’ve heard, “Oh, don’t worry, she won’t even know where she is.  She has Alzheimer’s [or] she has dementia.”  Well, believe me, for dementia residents, for dementia victims and Alzheimer’s victims, moving and transfer trauma is even more serious than other people who do know what’s going on.  Acuity levels and mortality rates increase.  Transfer trauma can, however, be reduced and even prevented with appropriate assessment, counseling, and interventions.


In the past two years, at the request of residents and their family members, our office has been involved in a number of closures in California.  One case, due to the intervention of one of our volunteer attorneys – who’s sitting here, by the way – we were able to stop the closure of a facility and prevent the transfer of 16 ventilator-dependent patients.  In all of the other cases, the residents were transferred abruptly, many of them far from families and friends, without any relocation services and, despite our repeated requests to the Department of Health Services, without any interventions on the Department of Health Services to force those facilities to comply with the law.  A number of these residents died within two weeks of transfer.  Needless to say, these are without any consequences to the nursing homes.  Once the facility closes, the Department often issues tons of citations and issues fines against those facilities that will never be collected.


In June of 2000, family members and 28 severely disabled residents were sent a notice from Doctors Medical Center, which Ms. Stimel just talked about, that the subacute and transitional care centers were going to close due to insufficient funds.  No relocation plan was filed, nor were any relocation services provided.  The Department finally issued a Cease and Desist Order after a number of residents were already transferred.  Pinole Subacute is now closed.  Doctors Medical Center was owned and operated by Tenet Healthcare, a multi-billion-dollar company with headquarters in Santa Barbara.  On March 31, 2000, not three months before that closure, Tenet Healthcare bragged about a 20 percent increase in earnings per share, with net operating revenues growing to $2.85 billion – their “best quarter in a long time,” according to their CEO.  Tenet Healthcare closed Pinole Subacute and abruptly dumped 28 severely disabled residents, not because they weren’t making money, but because they weren’t making enough money.


In October of 2000, Beverly Manor in Santa Barbara gave 30 residents a 72-hour notice and then transferred them to their other facility in Santa Barbara.  Why?  Because they needed to consolidate operations.  The Department of Health Services, which subsequently issued 25 citations against Beverly Enterprises, again did not intervene to make sure that adequate relocation services were provided.


I have other examples in my testimony.  I’m not going to go through every one, but I do want to point out Sereno Healthcare Center in Vallejo, where, on  July 16, 2001, the residents of Sereno Healthcare were given 30 days’ notice of the owner’s intention to close.  They did not give anybody any relocation services.  The residents were transferred, and while they were being transferred, our office again called up to the Department of Health Services and begged them to intervene.  We begged them, “If you don’t want to enforce the law, at least call up the Attorney General’s Office and have the Attorney General’s Office issue an injunction.”  Again, the Department of Health Services refused.  


One patient, who spent all of her adult life at Sereno Healthcare, was summarily put in a van, transferred to Davis, far from anyone she knows, and she was sobbing and crying as she left.  I talked to Ms. Klutz on the phone that day.  I was informed by her that all of these transfers were voluntary.  I can assure you, they were not.  Again, Sereno Healthcare is now closed.  Well after that, two months after, I sent the Department a letter.  I got a form letter back, and I enclose that in my testimony.  Last week we finally got a response to a complaint we filed on** behalf of the residents in July of 2001, saying, in fact, they were in there on July 18th, and gee, you were right, no relocation services were provided.  Our response to that is that if the Department of Health Services is not willing to enforce the law, to whom do the residents and their family members turn?


We don’t dispute the right of nursing homes to close.  We know too well that for the majority of nursing homes in California these are just a business.  However, these are not hardware stores, and they’re not factories, and the people are not widgets.  They are real people who live in these facilities, and for many the nursing home has been their home for years.  There is no excuse for the failure of the nursing home industry and these facilities to provide adequate assessments and counseling to prevent transfer trauma and to ensure the safe and appropriate relocation of residents.  Under current law, there is absolutely no consequences for the closing up and dumping of residents.


We know the Department of Health Services cannot prevent facilities from closing and that it has limited powers to force facilities to comply with the law.  However, there is no excuse for the Department of Health Services to fail to use the powers they do have to protect the safety and security of residents.


I have enclosed here a number of recommendations for change, and I want to mention three.  One, is that 30 days’ notice is simply not enough for people to find appropriate placement, given the severity of the disability of the residents.  This needs to be changed to a minimum of 60 days.


We need to require the Department of Health Services, if they’re not willing to enforce the law, they should be required to seek injunctive relief from the Attorney General’s Office.  For the first time in California’s history, we have an Attorney General who has demonstrated a clear commitment to the protection of nursing home residents.  We should afford California’s nursing home residents the opportunity to seek that protection.


We also think that it would be important to have the state require facilities’ owners to post a bond as security against an abrupt facility failure.  That way the Department can step in immediately, at the facility’s expense, and protect the residents.


Finally, we urge that the state change California’s loan system to support community-based nonprofits so that these facilities could be able to get expedited low-interest loans so that when some of these facilities close, that they might be able to acquire them.  We really want to see our state start promoting the development of community-based, nonprofit nursing homes.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony.  I have a few questions, but I’m going to wait until the end.


Our next speaker is Ms. Salve Robles.  Welcome, Ms. Robles.


MS. SALVE ROBLES:  Hi.  My name is Salve Robles.  I’m a certified nursing assistant at Sereno Care Center.  I’ve been there for five years.  


I spent my whole life in that facility just to work with those residents who are in need.  I’ve learned a lot by meeting with the residents and dealing with them.  To make sure that my residents are okay, I check them every day, wash their face, hands, eyes, their head, to be ready for breakfast.  I encourage the residents who don’t want to eat, talking and laughing, telling Bea she’s strong and healthy, so she will be with the family again.  That’s how the certified nursing assistant do.  Of course, we care for them.  They are like our own second family.


On July the 16th, we heard the news that the facility is closing and transferred six residents.  The next day we’re sad, especially the residents.  They were crying.  The families and staff were given 30 days’ notice.  We filed a complaint with the state to extend this a total of 45 days.  The residents were treated like an object, and there didn’t seem to be any regard for their feelings.  Most of the residents left crying, four to five days later, in the van.  Family members were told if they didn’t hurry and place their loved ones in another facility that there will be nowhere for them to go.  Something needs to be done.  It tragically affects their lives and needs to be stopped.


That’s it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much, Ms. Robles.


I think we have one other speaker from the CNA community.  Welcome.  Please try to keep your comments brief since we’re adding you to the agenda.  Welcome.


MS. KIMBERLY BALLARD:  Thank you.  My name is Kimberly Ballard.  I was a certified nursing assistant at Sereno Care Center when they closed.  


As a CNA, you become very close with the residents that you care for.  They become your family.  You know their ins and their outs and their dos and their don’ts.  They were given 30 days to move, and 6 were moved the following day.  In the six months since the closure of our facility, I’ve made it my job to stay close with these people, to follow their care, to reassure them that they’re okay and that we still care for them.  Since then, over half of the residents have died, and more than half of those that remain are in very terrible condition.  They’ve had amputations go on.  They’ve had severe weight loss.  They’ve become withdrawn.  A lot of them no longer even communicate.  And I blame that on the way the facility was closed, because the majority of those residents were doing decent.  


The two weeks prior to the closing of the door, the remaining residents were fed the exact same breakfast for fourteen days straight – oatmeal, toast, and scrambled eggs every day – because the facility did not want to purchase more food because they were closing, so they fed them what they had in stock.  Activities came off the board.  There was nothing for people to do, as they were cutting staff and moving people out like a herd of animals.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for important testimony.


Our next speaker is Mr. Phillip Chase, who is an owner/operator.  Welcome.


MR. PHILLIP L. CHASE:  Yes, ma’am.  Thank you.


I had an opportunity to review, over the last few months, the closures that were reported to the state and found that the closures from 1991 through 2001 numbered about 100; that some of those were due to conversions from skilled nursing platforms into residential care; some were just bulldozed and turned into other kinds of properties, or apartment houses, etc.  But a majority of those took place from 1997 to 2001, primarily because of the change in which the Medicare federal system payment structure had gone, from a cost-based system into what we call a RUGs-level system.  The dynamics in the industry were substantially felt throughout the country in terms of our trying to adjust to that process.


When looking at that, you step back then – I’ve had 32 years in the industry.  I’ve looked at this problem and determined that there are two things that one needs to take a look at in trying to explain how these things happen.  One is basically the mix.  Mix means what is the numbers of various payer sources within the facility?  Private pay, Medi-Cal, Medicare, some HMO.  The mix of that process is very critical as to how a building’s going to survive on a month-to-month, year-to-year basis.


The second driver is the occupancy ratios.  I served as president of the association back in the late ’80s.  At that time we had occupancy in the 93-94 percent levels.  Today, we’re at 82-83 percent levels.  That kind of occupancy does have an impact on the dynamics as well as the cash flow of the process.


Among the things that the committee might consider, since Medi-Cal does pay for 67 percent of the revenue stream, a building is dependent, therefore, on the Medi-Cal cost reports, which you all hear about and you take into account as you adjust the budget processes with the May revise.  Part of the issue there is the material that’s being presented to you for your consideration is somewhat outdated.  The way the system currently works with the state is that the data being used to determine our August increase, which we normally get every August, is based upon 1990-and-before – I’m sorry – 2000-and-before costs.  So, it’s two-and-a-half years late in terms of reporting the realities of what the marketplace is experiencing.


Two examples of how that could impact my facility would be that last year, during the energy crisis, my energy costs doubled from what it was in March of last year to March of this year.  If you look at issues of liability insurance, my liability insurance two years ago ran at a $60-a-bed-a-year number; it’s now $600-a-bed-a-year number.  So, that’s a ten times increase in the costs, and yet, workman’s comp – the third example – doubled from 2000 to 2001.  Those costs will not be picked up until next year’s data gets in place.  


The LAO has made reference to that in the report to you and has indicated that you might consider having a more updated reporting process which will allow you to do a quarterly update like you do with acute hospitals.  I think that’s an appropriate thing for you to consider because it would give you more timely data on which to base your judgments as to how you, as the major payer of the system, need to react to those needs.  Remember also, that you are the one that controls that process through the regulatory environment.  The relationship between regulation and the surveys and those liability issues that arise out of that all ultimately come on your table to consider because you are the payer of the bill as well as the regulator indefinitely for the process.  So, please consider those issues.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  You raise some important issues that need to be addressed, so I’ll address those in questions.


Our final speaker on the first panel is Ms. Brenda Klutz, Director of Licensing and Certification at the Department of Health Services.


Welcome.


MS. BRENDA KLUTZ:  Thank you, Madam Chair and Members.  


It’s my pleasure to be here today to talk about two issues for this panel:  the closure of nursing homes and bankruptcy of nursing homes, and also the establishment of the Skilled Nursing Facility Financial Solvency Advisory Board.  In the interest of time, I’ll just summarize state requirements and our authorities and some of our experience in recent years.


Regarding bankruptcies, legislation did go into effect January 1999 that required long-term care facilities, including nursing homes, to notify DHS in writing within 24 hours of filing a bankruptcy petition.  When the bankruptcy court appoints a trustee, DHS is required to notify the trustee of the requirements for operating a licensed long-term care facility.  


During his first year in office, Governor Davis made it a top priority for his Administration to improve long-term care in California.  His “Aging with Dignity Initiative” contained provisions to enhance quality of care, improve enforcement, and strengthen fiscal standards in nursing homes.  AB 1731, an Administration-sponsored bill, coauthored by Assemblymember Shelley and Senator Vasconcellos, among many others, contained several provisions which addressed the critical relationship between financial stability and the quality of care in nursing homes.


The bill required facilities to report to the Department within 24 hours whenever early symptoms of financial stress occur.  For example, a licensee is required to report if a lien has been levied against the facility, a financial institution refuses to honor a payroll check, or if the facility fails to make timely payments for the required insurance premiums.


It also established a process which allows the appointment of a temporary manager to operate a facility when the health and safety of residents is in jeopardy.  Something, unfortunately, we had to use last year.


It also increased the cap on the State Citation Penalty Account from $1 million to $10 million.  This account contains money collected as a result of state citations levied against facilities.  Money in the fund must be used for the protection of health or property of residents.  With recent and continuing reports of the risk of financial insolvency among nursing homes, increasing the cap to better equip the state to appoint receivers or temporary managers or to respond quickly to address financial issues was a prudent measure.


The other thing that happened was the establishment of a Skilled Nursing Facility Financial Advisory Board, which I’ll discuss separately.


It’s important to note – and again, the reason we’re all here – that for the sake of the residents’ health and safety, the goal of the Department is to avoid closing a facility whenever possible.  The relationship between the licensee and the property owner will sometimes determine whether a change of ownership is possible and closure can be avoided.  In some situations, L&C has been successful in actively assisting a facility to identify an appropriate new owner that will enable the residents to remain where they are.  In enforcement actions, the situation may be so dangerous and unsafe for residents that closure is the only alternative.


If a facility does intend to close, to initiate this change in the status of its license the facility must submit a relocation plan to the Department 45 days prior to the scheduled closure.  If the residents must be transferred to other facilities, the residents always must be given a written 30-day notice in advance of the transfer, and the residents must be assessed for the placement.  DHS tracks the location of all transfer residents and conducts follow-up visits to determine any negative effect upon individual residents.  Our district staff actually go to the receiving facilities after the transfer to see how the resident is doing, and we have issued deficiencies or citations where there’s evidence that the transition has not been as good as we would hope.


In June 2001, however, DHS experienced its first situation where a licensee actually abandoned three facilities for financial reasons.  They abandoned the facilities and filed bankruptcy afterwards.  They had not filed bankruptcy prior to this abandonment.  In that situation, DHS involvement was immediate.  We were able to use the temporary manager provisions of the new law to hire a temporary manager to operate the facilities until new qualified providers could be licensed and assume operation.  An appropriate licensee was found for two of the facilities but could not be found for the third facility.  DHS employees monitored activities in all the facilities during this time and ensured the safe and orderly transfer of residents was completed in the facility that was closed.


DHS also provided your committee with data regarding the number of skilled nursing facility closures during the period from 1991 to 2000 for use in the research studies on closure and bankruptcies, so I don’t want to repeat any of that.


A little over three years ago, DHS centralized its application process for skilled nursing facilities in Sacramento.  At that time, the unit began maintaining a centralized database that looked at correlations between ownership and compliance history.  We have the ability to look at ownership down to a 5 percent financial level, and we look at their involvement in past history, their past history in other facilities, the facilities they currently operate, both in California and outside the state.  Basically, we do not approve a new license unless the corporation can demonstrate the ability to provide care for the residents they have currently.


Prior to 1998, the applications were handled by separate district offices.  During the period from 1998 to the present, there were 47 closures, by our counts, during that period of time, 209 changes of ownership, and 34 initial or new applications for nursing home licensing.  So, a lot of change and turnover in the industry.


Lastly, and briefly, as I mentioned earlier, an additional provision to improve quality of care is to convene a Skilled Nursing Facility Financial Solvency Advisory Board.  The board would consist of eight members with expertise in the fields of health economics, accountancy, consumer advocacy, employee organizations, and nursing home management and administration.  It would meet quarterly and recommend appropriate financial standards for facilities to meet in order to qualify for a license and methods to monitor facility financial status in order to promote early intervention when facilities begin to face financial problems that could lead to disruptions in care.


I had the opportunity to read the two research papers done for the committee by UCSF and really believe that these documents, in addition to the testimony here today, will make a significant contribution in the deliberations of the members of that workgroup.  The Department has worked closely with interested stakeholders to identify possible nominees.  We hope to have our first meeting by next month.  


I appreciate the opportunity to testify, and I’m certainly available to answer questions.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you, all, for your testimony.  I know I have a few questions, but I want to give Senator Kuehl, who has joined us, an opportunity to weigh in, either with questions or comments.


Welcome.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  I know that your opening statement, which I got to hear, actually, before I could come here, covered all the bases of any comments that I would make, and I would defer to you for questions as well.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Well, I have a number of questions for each of the speakers.  We do have a bit of time for those questions.  Rather than start with Ms. Klutz, I would like to go back to the first speaker, Dr. Kitchener.  


Thank you for your hard work on the reports which are before us.  I think there has been some questions and issues raised regarding information that may or may not have been in the study.  I want to thank you, first, for pointing out the absence of quality data or the need for more information to begin pursuing this.  This is really a very first-level-threshold data-gathering study, and what it calls for is more time and more data to be able to deal with these, often what appear to be, polarized issues.  So, thank you for pointing that out and, hopefully, that will drive our ability to gather a number of resources.  


We embarked upon this, my staff and I, and obviously contracted outside to get the study done.  We were looking at the enormity of information that we were hoping to gather, and even with all your resources, I think it calls for far more resources to do the kind of qualitative research that needs to be done on this very important issue.  Hopefully, we can make the case.  If it’s not this year, then certainly in out-years to be able to fund that kind of study.


Let me ask you, if you were to weigh in and provide some recommendations on how we could develop an early warning system to identify the homes that may be in financial or operational trouble, what would you recommend for that early warning system?  Either of the participants in this study.


DR. KITCHENER:  One issue has already been raised.  One way around it might be this idea of moving towards a quarterly reporting system so that the financial data could be in a bit more early.  That might be one option.


Another option would be to try and increase the amount of information that’s gathered about the ownership and the organization of nursing homes within the state.  In a number of the homes where there were problems of sudden closure, the owners of those homes had already experienced problems in other states.  If there was a capacity within the state to monitor what was going on in other parts of the state or in other states, this might actually provide part of an early warning system.  


Those are just two options.  There are others I’ve outlined in the paper.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Klutz, do we not have a means of determining past history in other states, either under the name of this particular operator or the corporation?  I assumed that we actually go through that process.


MS. KLUTZ:  When we look at an application for license, we look at the person’s compliance history not only in this state but in other states at that point.  The particular incident that Dr. Kitchener is referring to, I think in most of the states – there were three or four states in which this provider was operating   under – it surfaced almost simultaneously, within a matter of days, and we were in contact with our counterparts in other states and even alerted another state, that we were aware of, that had some of this corporation’s facilities.


There’s not a national early warning system in this regard, but I think that as soon as we knew about the problem, we were able to respond in this case – thanks to the new statutes on the books – and stabilize those three facilities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to give Dr. Harrington an opportunity to weigh in because I think there may be a little more complexity to this response.


DR. HARRINGTON:  Yes.  The ownership issues are very complex because, as you know, many corporations can be all a part of one chain, and many chains have subsidiaries and the subsidiaries are not clearly identified with the parent corporation.  The Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, which used to be HCFA, at the federal level, does not keep track of these chains across companies, and they do not know the individual members of chains.  They don’t know the subsidiaries of chains.  It’s definitely a national problem that we don’t have a good federal database, so it makes it very difficult to track across states.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But I think with enough resources and enough commitment, we should be able to devise such a system.  Is it a question of ability and resources in California?  Let me ask Ms. Klutz, and then I’ll have you respond.


MS. KLUTZ:  California collects, again, down to the 5 percent individual financial level in terms of ownership data.  Other states don’t have that same requirement across the board.  Actually, even though we always hope to improve the quality of the data and the timeliness of the data that we have, we have much better data than many other states.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Ms. McGinnis, before you respond, let me take a moment to welcome Senator Figueroa who’s joined us.  Thank you.


Ms. McGinnis?


MS. McGINNIS:  Senator, I just wanted to address the issue of ownership.  We’ve had a project called “Who Owns California’s Nursing Homes?” for a number of years now, and we do track the ownership of California’s nursing homes on a database in our office.  We’ve asked the Department of Health Services for years to centralize the ownership, and I think they’re finally doing it.  I believe they’ve started doing something.  But, when you pull the ownership records in most of the facility licenses, the records are incomplete.  They don’t list out the information.  They’re not checked well.  Maybe with a centralized database that will happen.


The other big omission that we do in California is when we audit facilities, we audit maybe one out of seven nursing homes in any given year.  We never audit by chain.  There’s never a picture of what’s going on in a particular chain.  So, if you have a hundred Sun facilities in California, you may audit seven of those facilities.  You really never get a real picture of each individual facility and what’s going on.  Those are a couple of problems.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Do you want to respond quickly, Ms. Klutz?


MS. KLUTZ:  Again, I’m not completely familiar with the auditing process.  I don’t know that each individual facility is looked at.  But in the case of the multi-facility corporations, our Audits and Investigations does go back to the corporate  office – home office – and do central audits to get an overall corporate picture.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It might be helpful if someone from the audit division of the Department could report back to the committee, maybe even form sort of a follow-up informational hearing to focus on that piece of it, if we could.  I think what we’re attempting to do here is not only frame the issues but also gather the information to identify new issues.  So, if you could meet with my staff, maybe we can make a request either in testimony or in writing, or we’ll just form some follow-up questions for a follow-up hearing.


Thank you.


MS. KLUTZ:  Be glad to do that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.


I do have a number of questions, but again, if there are other Members interested in asking questions?  Senator Figueroa or others?  I don’t want to dominate all of the questions.


Ms. McGinnis, what does your data show is the percentage of residents that face problems with the transfer process? 


MS. McGINNIS:  If we’re talking about closures of facilities and the abrupt transfer of patients, anytime a facility closes in California, I’d say 99.9 percent of the time the residents face these problems because they don’t get adequate relocation.  


We have a law on the books – our organization sponsored that bill and Assemblyman Terry Friedman carried it back in 1987 – to set up specific prescribed procedures to prevent transfer trauma.  There’s a couple of problems with it, and we’re looking now at a bill that would correct some of the problems.


But you can have all kinds of laws.  If they’re not enforced, it doesn’t do any good.  The Department of Health Services, frankly, simply doesn’t enforce the relocation laws in California.  They are allowed to intervene and provide those services, and there’ve been a couple of cases where they have.  If the facility fails to provide the services or refuses or doesn’t have enough staff, they are allowed, under the law, to ask the Attorney General to intervene.  They never do that.  So, that’s a problem.  


I would say that most people, when a facility closes, face exactly what you heard today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.  I have a question for Mr. Chase, but let me have something clarified regarding the ability of the AG to seek injunctive relief.  Although the law doesn’t require it, is the AG, in fact, currently authorized to do so, or do we need legislation that clearly says the AG shall or may?  Is it unclear?


MS. McGINNIS:  I asked the AG’s Office, and they said—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let’s ask Ms. Klutz.


MS. KLUTZ:  I’m not familiar with the scope of the AG’s authority in this case.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, maybe we can get that information from the Attorney General’s Office.


Mr. Chase, can respond to that question?


MR. CHASE:  Just as a point of balance I wanted to point out relative to the fact of closures and the Department’s not pursuing their regulation.  I happened to sit in a facility as an administrator where such a closure occurred.  The individual company principal was cited, was fined a substantial amount of money, and, in fact, has been a guest of the federal government for the last four years because of his behavior in that license process.  So, it’s not fair to say nothing happens because it does.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


From your perspective as an owner/operator, are there provisions of the law that facilities are unable to comply with?  If so, what might make it easier for facilities to comply with the law?


MR. CHASE:  I think the first thing that I would hope the committee would consider is the recognition of the fact that the system is driven as a function of finance, and you need to address that issue.  After you’ve done that, we can get to how we fix the early warning system, if you will.  But the financial issue is critical.  Over the last seven years, we report our costs, and the state then budgets what they’re willing to pay.  Last August we reported the 6.4 percent earned amount.  We got 2.5 percent.  Over the last eight years we’ve requested $1.1 billion in reimbursement.  We got $700 million.  There was a shortfall there that is the crux of the issue, particularly if you’re a Medi-Cal-driven shop.  So, you need to understand that there’s a process there.  


In terms of what one does to assist that, I think the point being made earlier was having an early reporting system in terms of cost, because if I, as an operator, need to go two years before my real costs are acknowledged, I’m going to have a shortfall.  How do I make up that?  It’s coming from other payer sources – Medicare or private pay or other means – which is unfair to the Medi-Cal system.  So, we need to have that process understood.  


In terms of what mechanisms you’d have in a building to look at, I think the issue is looking at, as Ms. Klutz pointed out, the current regulations that are on the books that talk about the payroll system and acknowledgment of payroll checks that aren’t honored, and seeing that insurances are properly paid for and in place.  Those are issues which would give the Department indications of where potential problems may exist, but it has to be done on a timely basis, and there should be some provision for notice and cures so that can be resolved.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask Dr. Harrington or Dr. Kitchener to weigh in, because I think their data suggests it’s not a financial problem.  Maybe you can further clarify this for us.


DR. KITCHENER:  It’s obviously complicated, but the evidence we were able to gather suggested that quality was given the largest known reason by the state in the case of the closures we could identify.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, it isn’t a question of the ability to provide care based on financial constraints but, rather, that quality of care was a forced involuntary closure unrelated to bankruptcy.


DR. HARRINGTON:  That’s not to say that we’re not concerned about the financial side of it.  We think that the setting up of this monitoring system for early financial warning would be extremely important.  Our data shows that we should look at other factors, too, like the occupancy rates and what’s happening with staff and turnover rates and the ownership issues.


MR. CHASE:  Senator, if I might?  In the ones we did review, we only found four that were closures due to licensing issues.  Most of them were due primarily to fiscal or occupancy issues, as was just mentioned.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think there’s been some disagreement as to what numbers and reasons for closure, and I think that’s been raised in the testimony; but if there’s a way that you could work with us to try to specify what part of the study contradicts that, then maybe we can get further clarification as to why there is not agreement on the numbers and the reasons for closure.  It would be helpful to follow up.


Did you want to weigh in, Ms. Klutz?


MS. KLUTZ:  Just a comment.  The reasons that providers give us for closure are varied.  If they give reasons of financial solvency, that’s nothing that we audit or confirm.  We have no way of verifying what that means.  If I can assume that where we provided the information to UCSF on closures, there was a conclusion by the researchers that those facilities that closed did have care issues identified; but we did not necessarily identify care as the reason that they were closing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, as long as they self-identify as a reason, there’s no independent way of verifying that reason for closure.


Let me take a moment to welcome Senator Vincent who has joined us.  He’s one of our regular participants at informational hearings, so thank you for joining us.


Senator Figueroa.


SENATOR LIZ FIGUEROA:  If a facility is going to be closed for disciplinary reasons or safety and health reasons but then they chose to close down for financial reasons, would we ever have that other data?


MS. KLUTZ:  Yes.  If we had initiated a temporary suspension order, which would have to be a last resort because it means moving residents very quickly, if we had gone to the court and asked for a court appointed receiver, or if we had appointed a temporary manager, those would be instances where, because of the care, we would be taking an action that might result in a closure.  But those aren’t the majority of reasons that are given for closures.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Well, they’re not given, but do we know how many of them that could be in that situation?  I’m sure they wouldn’t give that as a factor if they know it’s not going to be counted against them and no one’s going to do an audit.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me see if Dr. Kitchener, who did this study with Dr. Harrington, can respond to that question.


DR. KITCHENER:  I don’t know if I can respond to it.  I can help shed some light on it.  In terms of both the free-standing and the distinct part closures, the largest known reason for closure – from the information available from the state – is that the state doesn’t know.  It’s one of these areas where there just isn’t information either collected or analyzed.  So, in the vast majority of all closure cases, we just don’t know why they closed.  This is why this sort of dialogue can go on, because the information isn’t there.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s one more reason why we need to gather more information.  Thank you for pointing that out.


A lot of the discussion has come back to the Department’s ability or the depth of the regulatory ability, or whether the law is adequate even if it were fully enforced.  Ms. Klutz, how do you currently review a facility’s closure plan?  What if the plan doesn’t appear adequate?  How do you ensure that each resident is properly transferred to an appropriate facility?  You said earlier that you, in fact, do follow up with the residents.  I think there was some shaking of heads.  Is it a hundred percent of the residents that receive follow-up?  Fifty percent?  And, do you track and closely monitor the placement of each resident at the state level, or is it up to a regional office, for example?  If it is a regional office, do they then centralize that information so it can be of timely assistance to people monitoring or wanting to determine whether that system is adequate?


MS. KLUTZ:  Well, I’m sorry I didn’t write down all of those questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask:  How do you currently review a facility’s closure plan?


MS. KLUTZ:  The local district office looks at a plan that is required.  They have to have a plan that is approved by us 45 days before the anticipated closure date.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But I just heard that some, in fact, don’t submit a plan; that it’s less than thirty.  There’s a call for a 60-day notice.


MS. KLUTZ:  No, they always have submitted plans.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Okay.


MS. KLUTZ:  And we also provide copies of those plans to the local ombudsman.  That’s also in law.  We look at the plans from the standpoint of sufficiency of staffing, and contacting the resident and their legal representatives.  For those Medi-Cal residents, we work with the Medi-Cal field office to identify available Medi-Cal beds in the community.  No question the preferred method of transfer is to look at where’s the family, where are the friends, and how can the resident best be placed in the community that they’re most comfortable with?  In some areas of the state, that is more problematic.  Especially in the East Bay, there’s a lower vacancy rate than in other areas of the state, and we see the problem in terms of having to go outside the community more frequently in the Bay Area than other areas of the state.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  What if the plan doesn’t appear adequate?  What do you do then?


MS. KLUTZ:  We sit down with the facility staff and require them to redo it.  Again, the clock does not start ticking in the closure until that plan is accepted.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I saw some shaking of the heads, and rather than testify on whether there’s always a closure plan submitted, I would welcome the instances in which it has not been submitted.  That way, I can forward that to the Department in writing and get some written clarification from the Department.  I think that would be quite helpful.


MS. KLUTZ:  And we’d be more than happy to respond.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Now, how do you assure that every resident is transferred to an appropriate facility?  That must be a huge task to track and determine.


MS. KLUTZ:  Again, it’s the facility’s responsibility to make arrangements for the transfers, but in the case of Sereno Care, we were there on a daily basis, literally.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is it every transfer case that somebody from the Department is there?


MS. KLUTZ:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If there’s a contradiction to that, I want the instances in which that’s occurred so I can get that and, again, have the Department respond in writing.  It’s hard to sort through whether that is the case.


MS. KLUTZ:  And we’d be glad to provide you with the chronology of Sereno Care, with the day-to-day log of what we did, etc.


When word gets out about a closure, the most immediate and natural reaction by residents and their families is to initiate transfers right away so that they have the best opportunity to get an available bed that is their first choice.  So, some of the transfers are initiated by family.  In the case of Sereno Care, there was a handful of transfers that were already scheduled prior to the announcement of the closure, and those were some of the ones that took place shortly after the announcement was made, as well as some family-initiated transfers.  Again, we interview the family.  We interview the residents.  We make sure that the transfers are voluntary.  In the case of Sereno Care, we had really serious concerns.  The medical director was basically absent during a critical period and was not doing the resident assessments that they needed to do.  We issued an Intent to Cite.  We contacted the corporate headquarters and they did correct that.  But we did issue a citation for the twenty residents who did not receive adequate assessment prior to transfer.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Mr. Chase?


MR. CHASE:  For balance purposes again – in the case of my closure, where the facility was closed, the clients were moved.  The Department did take an active role in the placement and followed up with where those clients went, because they came back to us, once we were up and running, and asked us if we’d be willing to take the clients back.  This was their home – they lived there for ten/twelve years – and we worked with the Department when we were ready.  Obviously, taking zero staff and zero patients, you have to build your census and the quality of your staff carefully, but the Department did play a role in following up on the readmission of those clients that wanted to come back to the property.  So, for balance, I wanted you to understand it does happen.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.


I think this has, again, raised more issues and allowed us to ask more questions in maybe a little more detail, but I suspect that this is the first of a couple of hearings.  It also sets the foundation for the kind of study and resources we need to commit to gathering more information and measuring variables that may or may not have been looked at in this study.  


I really appreciate your testimony.  I know this is a complex issue.  We’re trying to gather the information to allow us to provide some direction in policymaking, so I thank you for this part of the hearing.  I assure you that you will be hearing from many of us.


Let me allow Members the opportunity, if they want, to raise any final questions or comments.  No?  Okay, thank you, all.


I’ll now ask the second panel to come forward.  This part of the hearing deals with the question of liability insurance:  Is there a flaw in the market?  This is an issue that continues to certainly face many of us as we go into community forums, as we tour facilities in our districts, and it’s probably one of the more difficult questions to answer with an absolute yes or no.  As a result of that, I’ve asked the second panel participants to, again, frame the issues, weigh in, provide opinions, testimony, hopefully some data that we can measure and determine its veracity, and then frame some conditions for new information and move forward.  I don’t expect to answer this question in this hearing.


First, we will hear from Ms. Maureen Mason, Deputy Commissioner, from the Department of Insurance.  We also will hear from Ms. Klutz, as well as various other panelists.  Let’s start with Ms. Mason.


Welcome.  I believe our time requests are about five minutes for testimony so we will allow time for questions.


MS. MAUREEN MASON:  Thank you.


I am the deputy commissioner at the Department over the Rate Regulation Branch.  Thank you for inviting me to testify today.  You’ve asked me to describe the state of the market as it relates to nursing home liability and provide an overview of rate increases over the last few years.


What we have seen in California over the past few years is an increase in losses and loss ratios and a reduction in the number of companies willing to write this type of coverage.  In the year 2001, the Department’s Statistical Analysis Bureau conducted a data call to gather information regarding the availability of liability coverage for long-term care facilities; specifically, the skilled nursing care and assisted living facilities.  This data call provided several pieces of information regarding the market for this coverage, which I’d like to share with you now.


First, the data call was sent to 448 companies who were licensed to write commercial multiperil or other liability insurance.  Only 33 companies, or roughly 7 percent, responded to the data call, indicating that they actually wrote nursing home liability coverage during the period requested, which was 1997 to year 2000.  What we found was that, currently, only 21 companies representing 13 insurers or insurer groups indicated they are still writing long-term care liability coverage of any kind, and 4 of these companies have stopped writing new business coverage.


Second, of the 21 companies that indicated they are currently writing long-term care coverage, only 8 of these companies continue to provide coverage for skilled nursing home facilities, which, as you know, provide the higher level of care and more complicated medical services.  The greater number of carriers offer coverage for assisted living or residential care facilities which provide just basic support services.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, only eight are providing liability insurance for skilled nursing facilities?


MS. MASON:  That’s what the response to our data call indicated.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Now, given that there was only a 7 percent response, do we assume that all of the 93 percent that didn’t respond are not providing?


MS. MASON:  No.  Perhaps if I can clarify that:  The 448 companies represent companies that were licensed in lines that could have written this type of coverage.  We did receive a response from all of the companies, but only 33 actually indicated that they were providing coverage.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I see.  Please continue.


MS. MASON:  Companies responding to the data call indicated that they provided coverage for only 844 of, roughly, the 1,400 long-term care facilities; and only 185 skilled nursing home facilities had coverage.


The loss experience developing over the last few years has been consistently poor.  Prior to 1998, the Rate Regulation Branch received a few rate increases annually, generally in the neighborhood of 9 to 15 percent increases.  Beginning in 1998, the Department began seeing requests for increases in the range of 30 to 35 percent and, more recently, up to a 127 percent increase.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask a question on that point.  Are you seeing comparable rate increase patterns for other lines?


MS. MASON:  Not quite as dramatic, but we certainly have seen that the market has shifted in a couple of areas in the last three or four years.  Personal auto, for example, was on a downward trend for a number of years, and that changed in 1997-98, and we’ve seen recently a rather dramatic increase in rates there.  We also have seen it in some of the other liability lines.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, those rate increases may not necessarily be unique to this industry but, rather, across the system of insurance rate increases.


MS. MASON:  General hardening of the market may be part of the problem.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Go ahead and continue.


MS. MASON:  The Department has approved a rate increase as high as 69.5 percent.  These rate increases correspond to rates per bed, ranging from about $300 to $800, depending on location in the state.  The average premium for a facility has risen from $346 [sic] in 1997 to $994 [sic] in year 2000, an increase of 248 percent.


Industry loss ratios over the last few years support this need for rate increases.  Although improving in more recent years, the loss experience data is still poor.  And loss ratios for the past five years were at a high of 216 percent in 1997 to 107 percent in year 2000, and we’re still waiting for data for year 2001.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Vasconcellos has a question.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  On your terms, I’m not familiar enough to know what you’re talking about.  Loss ratios mean, what?  And loss experience means, what?


MS. MASON:  The loss experience data are the claims that have been paid, and loss ratio is the relationship of losses incurred and paid to the premiums collected.  Just as an example, companies expect to have an overall combined ratio, which is loss ratio and expenses, to cover losses and expenses one hundred percent.  They’re breaking even there.  So, if you’ve got a loss ratio itself of over a hundred percent, that’s before you’ve got all your expenses included in there.  


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  How are expenses determined?  Salaries and everything – overhead – all of that’s included in that?


MS. MASON:  Yes.  Acquisition costs and production of the policies.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please continue.


MS. MASON:  The change in the loss experience data appears to be driven by an increase in severity of claims rather than an increase in frequency of claims.  An increase in the litigation costs has clearly impacted the losses incurred by companies writing long-term care coverage.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  How so?  That’s just a blanket conclusion.  What are the particulars that lead to that, more than just an unsupported conclusion?  You said an increase has clearly impacted.  “Clearly” is a very strong word.  What are the particulars that allow you to make that conclusion so it’s credible, rather than just your allegation?


MS. MASON:  Well, we’ve seen, in general, an increase in litigation costs.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  How much?  When, where, what?  I want something that I can really grapple with and understand rather than just buy you wholesale.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is there data that you have provided that can help give us a sense of how you concluded?  I know this is a summary.  It is in the packet?  This is like all the other questions that have been coming up.  They’re important questions and we don’t understand them, and we need to probably have you come back and walk through some of the charts that are accompanying your presentation.  But I think Senator Vasconcellos’ concerns are ones that we want to see the data and the facts behind all these assumptions.  Give us a couple of moments to go through that.


MS. MASON:  I’m not sure exactly what you’ve been provided, but I don’t believe what I have provides any specific data in response to that question.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Then why bother giving it to us?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can you produce how this summary was generated?


MS. MASON:  I’ll be glad to go back to the Department and gather the information.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Half of the data isn’t worth two cents for me.


MS. MASON:  Okay.  We’ll get you more information, Senator.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  I appreciate that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Go ahead and continue.


MS. MASON:  While two new carriers have entered the market in the past two years, a greater number have stopped offering this coverage, and all our research leads the Department to express great concern about the availability and affordability of coverage for long-term care facilities.  While rate relief has been supported by the developing experience, continued rate increases will not resolve the problem facing long-term care facilities.  Rather, it will only increase the problem of affordability.  Unless underlying reasons for the development of the poor experience can be addressed, the industry can expect to see little change.  So, the Department is certainly very willing to work with this committee, Department of Health Services, or anyone else, to see if we can determine some resolution. 


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Do you have any idea of telling us what those underlying causes are that make up that conclusion?


MS. MASON:  The underlying causes that we would see would be increase in cost on the expense side of the ratio and the increase in the severity of the claims.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  An increase in costs on the expense side includes, what?  Higher salaries for the execs, or what?  I mean, I want to know what you’re talking about because I’m not familiar with all the details.  What you’re saying are just glittering generalities that leave me cold.


MS. MASON:  Again, we’ll go back, Senator, to provide more detailed information for you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s helpful.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  When you say more severe, what do you mean?  I don’t want to make light of this, but what does that mean?  They’re hitting people over the head rather than dropping them in bed?  What are you talking about?


MS. MASON:  No.  The increase in severity of claims relates to the cost per individual claim.  The settlement of a claim, for example – and I don’t have any specific numbers to tell you – but in the past, if an average claim settlement was $3,000, as time has gone by it has increased to five or six, or whatever the number is.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Is that because the incidents are creating more damage to be recompensed, or is it something else that makes up that increase in cost?


MS. MASON:  There are probably a number of components that would increase the cost of the claims settlement.  Part of it could be the litigation costs.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  I’d like to know what they are broken down.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Are there other Members who want to ask questions?  If not, I have a couple of questions.


I know Ms. Klutz is going to weigh in on this, but I think this goes to the methodology of the data behind your testimony.  I ran into this when I was asking questions of the Department on some other rate increases in another area.


When a provider comes forward, or an insurance company comes forward and says, “We need a rate increase because we have an increase in claims” – they’re short of a bad faith determination – does the Department verify that position?  Isn’t it the Department’s practice to approve those rate increases, short of some demonstration of bad faith?


MS. MASON:  No, Senator, I wouldn’t say that’s the case.  We go through a very detailed analysis process.  The companies are required to give us three years of historical data to support their request.  Historically, we don’t just rubberstamp the request, and very often we suggest a different, lower rate increase than what has been proposed.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think it would be valuable to bring the three year’s data back to the committee.


MS. MASON:  I believe that the report information that you do have does show the number of incurred losses.  It does have loss information.  It also shows the number of claims that have been incurred.  There is a little bit of detail there, but we’ll definitely try to get you better detail.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That would be helpful.  And what if a company, for example, comes forward and says, “We want to drop this line of coverage because it’s too costly,” what is the process then for the Department to say, “Yes, it is too costly.  We’re going to approve a denial of coverage versus a presumptive granting of that”?  Whether or not you look at actuarials to say, “Yes, indeed, this carrier is incurring significant financial loss, and we need to approve their denying coverage for skilled nursing facilities” – or assisted living facilities.  What is that process?


MS. MASON:  Generally, this type of coverage is one part of a line of business.  If a company has come to us and said, “We no longer believe we can offer this type of coverage,” for whatever reasons, they will usually present to us their loss experience and their financial condition.  However, we do not require the companies to tell us that they’re going to discontinue writing a particular program within a line of business.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we could conceivably see a decrease in the number of carriers that currently provide this kind of coverage and that may be driving up the rates as well?


MS. MASON:  For competitive reasons, generally it may or may not have a lot of influence.  I think you’re going to see that the consumers of this product would have a more difficult time trying to find coverage or placement for this coverage.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me make sure I understand.  Only 33 companies, or 7.4 percent, responded to the data call, indicating that they wrote nursing home liability coverage during the period requested.  Am I to understand that out of the 448 companies that do provide insurance, only 33 companies said that they provide the assisted living facilities or skilled nursing facilities liability coverage?


MS. MASON:  Yes, that’s correct.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  How many of those thirty-three have sought to discontinue coverage for skilled nursing or assisted living facilities in the period?


MS. MASON:  As of year 2000 – actually, 2001 – we only have 21 companies remaining that are writing any kind of coverage.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we went from 33 to 21 companies in what period of time?


MS. MASON:  The period from 1997 to current.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Of those twenty-one companies as of, what?  What was the cutoff date of your report?


MS. MASON:  The report was compiled in year 2000, and then we got an update of who is currently writing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we currently have 21 companies in the State of California that are providing skilled nursing facility or assisted living facility liability insurance coverage.


MS. MASON:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If ten of those companies came in tomorrow and said, “We no longer can provide because we’re losing money,” what is the process for the Department to say, “Okay, we will allow you to no longer provide that coverage”?  Does the Department have any authority to say, “We’re going to deny you the ability to drop that line of coverage”?


MS. MASON:  I’m not aware of any authority for the Department to deny a company to continue to write a particular program.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So, we could see in six months two companies providing the only coverage in the State of California.


MS. MASON:  It’s very possible.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because the standard of the Department is short of some demonstration of bad faith, we can’t deny their request to no longer provide this line of coverage.


MS. MASON:  Right.  We don’t have that authority.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If an insurance company says, “It’s too expensive to carry this line,” there is no second-guessing?  The Department doesn’t require actuarials to demonstrate the loss/profit kinds of data?


MS. MASON:  For any of the companies that come in with requests for rate changes, that does go through, as I mentioned, a rigorous review, and there is actuarial review.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But that’s on rate changing.  That’s not “Today, I’m providing skilled nursing facility coverage; tomorrow, I don’t want to continue future policies.”


MS. MASON:  Right, because the companies would not necessarily notify us.  They would have an approved program and rate level with the Department, and they could just discontinue writing any new coverage.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is the concern I have: we could see companies in California not provide coverage at all.  It could then also drive up the cost of these premiums.


MS. MASON:  Potentially, yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is helpful.  


I’m sorry, did we allow you to finish your report?


MS. MASON:  Yes, Senator, you did.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Other Members who may have questions of Ms. Mason?  I think I will have a question but I want to hold off.


Our next speaker is Ms. Klutz.  Welcome again.


MS. KLUTZ:  Thank you, Madam Chair, Mr. Chairman, and Members.  My name is Brenda Klutz.  I’m deputy director for Licensing and Certification at Health Services.


AB 430, the budget trailer bill for Fiscal Year 2001-02, required the Department of Health Services to convene a workgroup that included the Department of Insurance and the Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development and the Department of Finance.  The focus of the report is to be:

· The number and cost of claims and trends for general and professional liability insurance for long-term care providers.

· Trends in average long-term care liability insurance premiums.

· Identification of the factors contributing to trends in claims, costs, and premiums.

· A review of actions taken in other states for comparison purposes.

And,

· Policy recommendations.


As you have noted already, this study encompasses the long-term care industry beyond skilled nursing facilities.  It does include assisted living and other long-term care.


A letter requesting information and available data was sent to stakeholders representing providers, consumer advocates, insurance carriers, insurance industry experts, labor organizations, and other government representatives.  We’ve convened a couple of meetings, had conference calls with folks in various forums, and individual discussions with these groups.  We have met and we will continue to meet and be in close communication during the development of the draft of the document.


While we don’t have an approved draft report at this time, I can share some observations, and these are common themes that we noticed in the literature search and what was going on in other states.  They’re very general observations that may help frame the issue.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Before you go into those observations, let me make sure I have it on the record.  When was this report due?


MS. KLUTZ:  Last Friday.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And it will be available, when?


MS. KLUTZ:  I wish I could predict, but we’re working on the draft now.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We always have a problem getting these reports back on time.  It’s very frustrating because we’re trying to develop policy in a vacuum.


Senator Vasconcellos.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Maybe we ought to dock salaries by one percent a day if it’s late across the board in the Administration.  Maybe that’s the way to get things done on time so we know what’s going on.  I’m not coming down on you, Ms. Klutz, but that’s a constant frustration.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It is very frustrating, especially in the health and human services area.  You’re the messenger, so please continue with the message.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Just carry it back and then continue with the message.


MS. KLUTZ:  In summary, California law does not mandate that long-term care providers carry liability insurance.  The problems that providers are experiencing regarding the cost and availability of liability insurance seem to have escalated within a relatively short period of time.


Neither insurance companies nor nursing homes are presently required to send information to any government organization regarding liability insurance claims filed, premiums paid, or type of coverage held by nursing homes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Would you repeat that third one?


MS. KLUTZ:  Neither insurance companies nor nursing homes are presently required to send information to any government organization regarding liability insurance claims filed, premiums paid, or type of coverage held by nursing homes.


Some data is available from the Department of Insurance – and I don’t want to repeat the testimony that’s already been provided – but I think it’s very important to note that of the insurers that are licensed in California, referred to in the previous testimony, those insurers only cover 185 of California’s 1,400 nursing homes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Amazing.


MS. KLUTZ:  DHS does not know the status of the other 87 percent for the following reasons:  The homes could be self-insured; they could be securing liability coverage through arrangements or insurance companies not licensed in California at all; or they could be going uncovered, without liability insurance coverage, at the current time.


While specific, verifiable data is limited, recent published reports in newspapers, business and insurance industry periodicals and newsletters confirm assertions that liability insurance coverage for long-term care providers is now more costly and increasingly difficult to get.


The consumer, the civil action attorney, the nursing home investor, the insurance company, and the federal and state regulatory agencies all use federal enforcement data and state citation data to evaluate a facility.  There’s frequent use of our survey documents and our citation documents by all of these industry or all of these stakeholders in looking at and evaluating nursing homes.


Residents and consumers view civil law protections that make it easier to sue in cases of elder abuse as a protection for the elderly residents and as a deterrent to bad care.  Facility investors and insurance companies see litigation or the potential for litigation as a bad risk.  After all, insurance, in some ways, is based on the risk.


If a nursing home cannot secure liability insurance or cannot afford the premium and decides to carry no liability insurance at all, the financial stability of the facility is at much greater risk.


Newspaper reports and periodicals from the assisted living industry indicate that liability insurance premiums are increasing for them as well, and these increases have been occurring even when there has been no increase in lawsuits or problems identified related to the facilities.  So, there’s kind of a dynamic that’s spilling over into the assisted living industry in terms of the premiums.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Do you have any idea what that’s related to or caused by or generally on account of?


MS. KLUTZ:  Senator Vasconcellos, I wish I were more of an expert in insurance, but what I know at this point is that, again, it gets back to the issue of loss ratios.  If the money an insurance company is getting in, in terms of premiums that are being paid on a policy, is less than the amount of money the insurance companies have to pay out as a result of lawsuits or settlements, they’re losing money.  Then they want to increase the premiums to try to recover their money.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Of course.  Didn’t you just say, though, this is happening where there’s no sign of increased penalties or increased payments or anything else?


MS. KLUTZ:  Yes.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  So, what you just said doesn’t explain what you just said.


MS. KLUTZ:  You’re right.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  So, help me understand what you’re saying.


MS. KLUTZ:  We don’t know the real reason for it at this point.  The speculation is that there’s just some fear that this dynamic will start to spill over into the assisted living industry.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Whom can we expect to know these things so that we can be informed by people employed by the state to help monitor these industries?  Insurance or Health?  I mean, I don’t care who does it, but to sit there, all of you, and say, “We don’t know, it’s just kind of too bad,” is pretty awful.


MS. KLUTZ:  And we want to find out the answers.  Sometimes the answers require information that we may not have.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  And you thought to come and ask us to get it for you or pass a bill that gets it for you?


MS. KLUTZ:  The report will discuss and analyze all those issues and will make recommendations on those sorts of problems.


Finally, the possible options the workgroup will identify in the liability insurance report are being developed with the expectation that there are no quick fixes.  Solutions must be comprehensive in nature, implemented with the involvement of stakeholders who share the responsibility of ensuring the existence of a quality system of long-term care for current and future Californians.


Thank you for the opportunity to testify.  I’d be glad to respond to any questions.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Is your testimony available to be shared with committee members?  


SENATOR VINCENT:  Ms. Mason’s testimony – I’d certainly like to get a copy of her testimony.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Can that be shared with the committee?


MS. KLUTZ:  We do have them available, and they can be given to the sergeant.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll go ahead and have the sergeant get those and share those with our Members, because I think there’s a lot of really valuable information.


SENATOR VINCENT:  No question.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Vincent, do you have a question?


SENATOR VINCENT:  No, I just said it’s totally confusing.  I’ve gone through this from the state of Iowa to the state of California to, with some specificity, Santa Monica.  My wife’s father was in a nursing home.  Listening to this, this is unbelievable, just some of the things that the Senator has brought up, and I talked to Senator Kuehl about it, but I definitely would like to get a copy of Ms. Klutz’ statement as well as Ms. Mason’s.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know we have a number of participants on the “Perspectives” panel part of this.  I have questions of the Department as well as Ms. Klutz, but I will wait.  But it really goes to the heart of Senator Vasconcellos’ question:  How do we independently verify whether or not the representations by the companies are true or whether it’s just not enough profit in the setting of the premium costs?  I think that’s the frustration on the mystery of insurance rates.


Senator?


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  I would suggest that you, as Chair – and if you want me as subcommittee chair along with you – convene a work session.  Now that all of this has been fleshed out and the vacuousness of all of this is evident, that there be a meeting called by you and have all the key stakeholders and insurance and regulation figure out precisely what it would take to create a coherent system, and then design it and adopt it so we never again sit through this kind of awful hearing.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think you’re absolutely right.  I believe we did, in fact, invite Senator Speier to share as three committees hosting this.  The gaps of the insurance understanding for those of us who are in the other policy committees are significant.  I understand she had an oversight committee hearing that was in conflict, but we’ll try our best to try to coordinate that either in a public setting or a work session.  It’s a tip of the iceberg on gathering the information, so we will be asking all of you to work with us in whatever format in the future.  It’s overwhelming but we need to begin to answer these difficult questions.


Senator Kuehl, do you have a question or comment?  Senator Vincent?


SENATOR VINCENT:  No.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me welcome the other panelists.  I believe each of the following speakers, hopefully, will shed some light or raise more questions.  After that we can come back and ask specific questions of all.


I believe the next speaker would be Roland Rapp, an operator/owner of a California nursing facility.


Welcome, Mr. Rapp. 


MR. ROLAND RAPP:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and committee members.  


My name is Roland Rapp.  I’m a second generation nursing home operator, a licensed nursing home administrator, and a practicing attorney in the healthcare field.  My wife and I operate five nursing facilities in the Bay Area and Sacramento.  Unfortunately, today, I cannot assuage any of your fears that may have developed from the prior two speakers.  I’d like to share with you my own recent experiences in trying to obtain professional liability insurance, as well as those I know firsthand from both clients and colleagues.


In January of 2000, we took over a facility that had previously been operated by a large and previously bankrupt multi-facility organization that had nearly been decertified before our taking it over from both the Medicare and Medicaid programs.  We came in and immediately changed much of how the facility operated, predominately by putting a self-imposed freeze on admission until we could establish a stable labor force, and subsequently have had two very good annual surveys since then.


Our difficulty in obtaining insurance began at the outset when the insurance company we had used for some time refused initially to include the facility in our existing coverage for our other facilities.  Some of our facilities, by the way, have been operated for several years and previously were owned and operated by my parents.  Neither facility had ever had a claim in all those years, and our rate at the time had just skyrocketed by over 24 percent the year before, from about $140 per bed to $180 per bed.  The policy was still an occurrence-based, first-dollar coverage.


What happened with this other facility was that because of the prior operator’s survey record, we could only get a policy that would be effective for six months and had a $250,000 deductible.  After six months, they canceled the policy and refused to renew it.  We’ve not been able to obtain the prior levels of insurance for this facility since.  We’ve tried to incorporate the facility in policies for our other facilities at this past year’s renewal cycle, and based upon the track record we felt that we would be able to get that coverage.  Instead, we found that for the entire group of facilities, no insurance company offered comparable insurance at any rate.  The only rates quoted were, roughly, ten times our rate from the prior year for the nearest comparable coverage with a deductible that gave me chills just to consider it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Since your prior rate was $200 a year per bed, are you saying that some of the rates were $2,000 a year per bed?


MR. RAPP:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’m afraid to ask which companies.  Please continue.  Well, I think it’s a legitimate question.  Can you share with us the company names?


MR. RAPP:  You know, I don’t recall offhand because we must have had four or five different quotes.  We did have some quotes that were only about five or six times the coverage, but the types of claims that they covered and the deductibles were such that there didn’t appear to be any coverage at all.  It was just a matter of paying money to be able to say you have insurance.  They had pages and pages of limitations of what the coverage included.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I suspect we’re going to want to independently verify some of the representations here, either on a staff level or department level.  So, maybe outside the hearing, if you feel more comfortable, anonymously sharing your rate estimates across the providers, it would be helpful.


MR. RAPP:  Certainly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Please continue.


MR. RAPP:  In addition to pricing it at, roughly, ten times the last year’s rates and the significant deductibles, the coverage was essentially nil for most policies that were offered.  Many of the claims outside of the classic medical malpractice cause of action were excluded from coverage.  The coverage was on a claims-made basis rather than an occurrence basis for most policies which, as I understand it, has the effect over the subsequent policy years of tripling the rate over three years.


When we met with the insurance company that had covered us for so long, they told us that because lawsuits were no longer based upon the service to the affected resident but, instead, based upon the facility’s overall survey record, that even the best facilities would have sufficient deficiencies in the current litigious environment to cause risk and rates to escalate several-fold over prior years, even after reducing coverage to the nominal levels I described.  


In the end, we, like most providers, had to decide whether we were willing to pay the new price for insurance and thereby, under our flat rate system, cut direct patient care expenses, effectively reducing the level of quality, or risk that a single claim could end our family’s two generations of service by going uninsured.


Reflective of my own personal experience, I’ve spoken to many operators who have facilities that they have operated for several years with similar experience and similar rates.  I’ve also spoken to insurance brokers who have said they have concerns that many people are going uninsured.


One of the most astonishing findings in the Department of Insurance’s preliminary report, I found, was that the insurers who covered over 2,000 facilities in 1997 now only covered about 803 in the year 2000.  This fact suggests that more than half the long-term care consumers may have no insurance proceeds available if they are injured due to errors by caregivers in long-term care facilities.  However, I would point out that I’m aware of at least one nonadmitted carrier – Lloyd’s of London – that has been offering a bare-bones, high deductible, high priced, nominal coverage, claims-made policy.  I think when a high-risk company like Lloyd’s enters in this market, it speaks loudly about the desperate state of affairs.


A recent study by AON Risk Consultants for the American Health Care Association studied the insurance and actuarial trends across the country.  They found that, since 1995, cost of claims nationally have quadrupled from $590 per bed to an estimated $2,360 per bed.  The countrywide increases are a result of an explosion in litigation that started in a handful of states, including California, and is spreading to a multitude of regions throughout the country.  These are AON’s findings, and I’d be happy to share the report with you afterwards.


In addition, the average size of each claim is steadily going up across the country at annual increases well ahead of inflation.  In many states, including California, the increase in liability costs is largely offsetting annual increases in Medicaid reimbursements.  The average size of a GL/PL claim has tripled from $67,000 in 1990 to $219,000 in 2001.  


Countrywide, long-term care operators now incur 11 claims per year for every 1,000 occupied skilled nursing care beds.  This is three times higher than the 1990 frequency of 3.6 claims per 1,000 beds.


The AON study reported that California’s experience statewide has been consistent with my own experience and the national trends.  They show average lost cost per occupied bed in California going from $480 per occupied bed in 1996 to $2,320 in 2001.  On a per diem basis, that lost cost reached fully 5 percent of our Medi-Cal budget in 2000, and that’s before the real explosion and costs that I described that occurred just this last year in 2001.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me ask you to wrap up because we’re close to ten minutes now.


MR. RAPP:  I’d like to offer my view of just a couple of things that I think could be potential solutions to this crisis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  In less than a minute.


MR. RAPP:  Okay, I can do it in less than a minute.


First, we need to fully fund the cost of contemporary insurance costs to make sure that providers can afford insurance and adequately protect our residents from injury.


Second, I believe that we should learn from our experiences and other programs like CIGA and go a step further for services and risk costs associated with the well-documented underfunding of California nursing facilities by establishing an agency or other entity that leverages federal matching Medicaid funds to provide a risk reserve to manage claims and ensure that all Californians covered under Medi-Cal who incur injuries can recover their reasonable damages.  Such a program could be designed to recognize the state’s role in establishing the level of service to Medi-Cal recipients and provide them the protection from insolvency.  It could also be designed to recover Medi-Cal liens before the pay-out of an award or settlement.  The state would necessarily be a repository for all loss data which would eliminate a lot of the questions we have about data.  The state could then ultimately establish direct oversight, evaluation, and claims payment.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Is your written testimony available for us?


MR. RAPP:  Well, once I transcribe all of my notes that I’ve scribbled since—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We would appreciate your sharing that with us.


MR. RAPP:  Thank you for your indulgence.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Our next speaker is Mr. Russ Balisok.  Welcome.


MR. RUSS BALISOK:  Thank you very much.


I’m a member of CAOC, and for many years have been closely associated with the California Advocates for Nursing Home Reform.  I’ve been litigating cases of abuse and neglect—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And you’re going to agree with everything he just said, right?


MR. BALISOK:  I couldn’t disagree with everything I’ve heard so far more.


It wasn’t until the enactment of the Elder Abuse Act in 1991 that I was able to devote my practice to these cases.  I’d previously been representing folks who had managed to survive serious events of noncompliance, serious events of elder abuse, long enough to get to trial.  I’ve written numerous articles on the subject of elder abuse and authored frequently used practice guides that attorneys use.  I regularly participate in seminars.  I’ve handled a number of appellate opinions and am presently representing the parties in a case before the State Supreme Court, which may decide some of the issues of importance to this committee in a case called Covenant Care v. Superior Court.


No doubt the purpose of this body is to find ways to address the unchanged and intractable problems of institutional neglect and abuse of our elders.  The Legislature has required in the past that there be elder abuse reporting, more recently criminalized elder abuse, and in 1991 enacted the Elder Abuse and Dependent Adult Civil Protection Act in order to bring the power of the civil justice system to bear on the problem.  As I will explain, the results have not been impressive.  Operator attitudes and practices have essentially gone unchanged.


Now, the good news is that there’s really no liability insurance crisis affecting the financial viability of nursing homes in the state.  Any suggestion to that effect is false and misleading.  The bad news is that California’s Elder Abuse Act has not had that much effect in deterring abuse and neglect in our nursing homes.  The fundamental issue, as I see it, is what can we do to deter the most egregious conduct against our elders in nursing homes?


First, I’d like to discuss why the marked increase in liability claims under the Elder Abuse Act and the dramatic increase in insurance premiums hasn’t threatened the financial viability of nursing homes.  In summary, it’s because the federal Medicare and the federal/state Medi-Cal programs combine to reimburse nursing homes for the increase in costs of liability insurance premiums.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Will you repeat that?


MR. BALISOK:  Medicare and Medi-Cal combine to reimburse nursing home operators for the cost of liability insurance premiums.  When premiums go up – there’s no secret, and we’ve had several people allude to it already this afternoon – when premiums go up, the nursing home passes those premium increases on to the taxpayer.  It’s just that simple.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  How so?


MR. BALISOK:  Because, under the rubric of administrative expense, both Medicare and Medi-Cal reimburse nursing home operators for the cost of liability insurance, including, interestingly, liability insurance for claims under the Elder Abuse Act.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Automatically, it just goes up?


MR. BALISOK:  They just go up.  Taxpayers pay, and that’s the end of it.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Who decides that?  Nothing happens that way.  I don’t believe that, so start again.  What showing is made by whom that warrants a decision to raise the rates?


MR. BALISOK:  The Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development gathers information from the nursing home industry, and within the rubric of, or under the category of, administrative expense, it includes the cost of liability insurance premiums.  That is passed on to the folks at Medi-Cal who make the determination as to how much the reimbursement formula should be for the next year.  What we’ve had proposed earlier this afternoon was that it should be done on a quarterly basis so that they don’t have to pay the cost of the increase.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Of the huge percentage of facilities that supposedly don’t have liability insurance, they can’t pass those costs on.


MR. BALISOK:  Well, actually, we think most everybody does have liability insurance, but they purchase it out of state.  They’re multi-state corporations, and they purchase it out of state and don’t report it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  It’s like a rider to a company incorporated in another state.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  But if we reimburse them, why wouldn’t they report it and get reimbursed for it?  It doesn’t make any sense.


MR. BALISOK:  They don’t report it to some of the reporting – Department of Insurance, for example – but they certainly report it for Medi-Cal for the purposes of getting reimbursed.  


Believe me, nursing homes get reimbursed for the cost of their malpractice insurance, and therefore, increases get passed on to the taxpayer.  In the Medicare program, they get passed on to the federal government.  In the Medi-Cal program, they get passed on to the federal and state governments, which are joint participants in that plan.  So, increases do not pose a threat to the operator, whose patient census is typically composed of 80 percent Medicare and Medi-Cal patients.


The next question, I think, is why hasn’t the Elder Abuse Act, enacted in 1991, deterred neglect and abuse of our parents?  Again, the answer is that the federal Medicare program and the federal-state Medi-Cal program combine to reimburse nursing home operators for the cost of liability insurance.  When losses from lawsuits increase, premiums go up, and the operator passes the increase on to the taxpayer.  The net result is that our parents continue to be abused and neglected in 24-hour care facilities.  Taxpayers pay for the cost of the liability of nursing home operators who continue with their decades-old practices, and I’m sure this committee has some information about that, and I think my colleague will speak to that.  In other words, only our taxpayers and our parents continue to suffer under the current interpretation of the Elder Abuse Act, and that gets me onto my next subject.  But it’s really the worst possible outcome, one we would not have expected from a very well-motivated and inspired piece of legislation, the Elder Abuse and Dependent Adult Civil Protection Act.


Let me talk a little bit about that.  The act provides for special remedies for elders and dependent persons who are neglected or abused when they die.  For the victims of elder abuse who live to trial, there is no particular advantage to litigating under the act, other than the remedy of attorneys fees.  However, for the plaintiff who dies, in order to obtain the benefit of the Elder Abuse Act’s remedies of predeath pain and suffering damages, his or her heirs must make nearly the identical showing – which is to be made by a plaintiff – in order to claim punitive damages against the defendant.  That required showing is clear and convincing evidence that the defendant’s conduct was malicious, fraudulent, or oppressive.  


There is no higher burden which the law imposes on a civil litigant.  As you may know, malice and oppression describe only the most egregious conduct in society.  The standard of proof – clear and convincing evidence, which the Elder Abuse Act requires – is just a tick below, but beyond the reasonable doubt standard in criminal law.


Now, as many of you may know, California law forbids an insurer from paying when the defendant’s conduct is shown to be malicious or oppressive or fraudulent.  It’s fundamental in California, and it’s embodied in Insurance Code Section 533.  So, if an insurer may not indemnify for such conduct, why have nursing facilities’ insurance premiums increased?  Remember, that the standard of proof under the Elder Abuse Act is essentially the same as the standard of proof under the punitive damage statute.  Under the punitive damage statute, the insurance company may not pay, and I submit that under the Elder Abuse Act, the law in California is the insurance company may not pay.


Now, the question then is why have premiums, nonetheless, gone up?  Well, it’s a complex answer, and I’m not sure I know the entire reason, but nursing home operators are obviously able to rely on their carriers to pay out under the Elder Abuse Act, and that’s apparently because insurance carriers have apparently agreed to indemnify nursing home operators for this liability.  Oddly – and this is an important fact – their insurers, as we know, besides those who insure nursing homes, also insure physicians for malpractice.  It is true – I have personal experience most recently – that insurers of physicians have routinely taken the position that liability under the Elder Abuse Act is not insurable, including liability.  That’s liability under the Elder Abuse Act.  In other words, they issue letters denying coverage to physicians for claims under the Elder Abuse Act.  


Why the difference between the position of nursing home insurers and insurers of policies of professional liability for physicians?  It’s a puzzling question.  But the answer seems to be that as long as the state and federal governments reimburse nursing home operators for the cost of insurance, and as long as the insurers’ high premiums are paid, there is no normal market tension between the premium payer and the insurer.  The premium payer doesn’t really need to care if premiums go up.  Why?  It’s because, members of the committee, they’re reimbursed.


If we look beneath the covers, I would not be surprised to see an agreement that insurers will not press this point as they might in other instances, but simply continue to raise their government-reimbursed premiums.  


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Excuse me.  We’re going to have others weigh in and say that is false, that’s not true.  You’re going to say yes, it is true.  We really need to determine who can measure these statements.  I don’t know if it’s the Department of Insurance.  I don’t know if it’s the Department of Health Services.  I don’t know if it’s OSHPD.  Obviously, it’s not the two industries that are debating the veracity of these statements.  It really frustrates me that we don’t have an independent means of measuring these positions.


MR. BALISOK:  Right.  The State Supreme Court case that I mentioned that’s presently pending is Covenant Care v. Superior Court.  It is a case in which we believe the Supreme Court may indeed address the question of whether or not liability under the Elder Abuse Act is insurable under Insurance Code 533 and settle the issue.  But there’s no doubt that liability under the Elder Abuse Act matches up with the same standard for punitive damages, and the insurance companies’ insuring positions, no doubt, are denying coverage.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think Senator Kuehl has a question on that point.


SENATOR KUEHL:  At least one.  I just want to clarify, if I can, because every time you make a statement about the law, I see people on the committee looking at me, like, Can they do that?  


It seems to me that what you said – and I’m not familiar, obviously, with the area or the case that’s pending – that if the standard of those things that need to be proven in order to find liability under the Elder Abuse Act are the same as those things that need to be found in order to trigger punitive damages, that that’s what raises the question as to whether any violation under the act is insurable – just because of the things that need to be proven coincide?


MR. BALISOK:  If I understand the question, the answer is, we cannot obtain a remedy under the Elder Abuse Act unless we show – and this is Welfare and Institutions Code 15657 – unless we show clear and convincing evidence of malice, fraud, oppression – and these are defined terms directly defined by reference to Civil Code Section 3294, which is our punitive damage statute – and there’s one other element—


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, there’s no negligent—


MR. BALISOK:  Negligence will not afford us a remedy under the Elder Abuse Act.  The standard of proof under the Elder Abuse Act is the highest standard that can be imposed under traditional civil law statute concepts.  We have to show clear and convincing evidence of malice, fraud, oppression, or something called “recklessness,” in order to get a remedy under the Elder Abuse Act.  So, for the patient who dies, we’re wholly dependent on the Elder Abuse Act.  For our plaintiffs who are alive, however, we can recover on the basis of negligence.


What’s created this huge increase in loss ratios that we’ve been talking about isn’t the latter category of negligent conduct.  That’s clearly insurable, and the plaintiffs in those cases clearly need to be compensated.  What’s creating this huge influx is the ability, finally, to seek redress against nursing homes and to determine its conduct by allowing us this limited remedy on behalf of deceased victims, because, unlike other areas of the healthcare industry, folks who are involved in the care of our elders in nursing homes are dealing with an aged and frail population to begin with, and it doesn’t—


SENATOR KUEHL:  But you’re saying that those things that need to be proven for a deceased victim are the same as those that need to be proven for punitive damages and therefore cannot be insured for, but that case is pending.


MR. BALISOK:  Well, the cases are legion under Insurance Code 533, which is the statute that says there’ll be no coverage for what’s called “willful conduct.”  Willful conduct, under that statute, is conduct which—


SENATOR KUEHL:  And the only violation of this statute for deceased patients is willful conduct.  


I think what I’ve heard is there is action for negligence while a patient is alive, but after the patient has passed away, the only action requires a showing of maliciousness, etc.  And because of that, those remedies would not be insurable.


MR. BALISOK:  The conduct in question necessarily falls within the definition of willful misconduct under Insurance Code 533 or there is no remedy under the Elder Abuse Act period, and that’s what the law says.


SENATOR KUEHL:  So, the conclusion you want the committee to draw is that there is not a good reason for this enormous increase in premiums, at least based on available remedies, because it’s your testimony that the insurance companies cannot and will not cover any liability for deceased patients because that’s not an insurable claim.


MR. BALISOK:  It is not an insurable claim.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And it was your further testimony that as to those that might be covered, that the expenses of that coverage – those premiums – are reimbursed – or reimbursable?


MR. BALISOK:  Reimbursed.


The further point I would like to make is that if, indeed, liability under the Elder Abuse Act is not insurable, we should effect a savings of hundreds of millions of dollars to the taxpayers in California each year from the diminution – the reduction – in liability insurance costs, which would return to pre-crisis levels because they would be restricted to paying off only for plaintiffs who had passed away on negligence, and that’s where the insurance companies should be paying.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know we’ve interrupted you because this is very provocative testimony, but I’m going to ask you to try to wrap up so we can ask questions after others have presented.


MR. BALISOK:  I have very little left.


Once the State Supreme Court clarifies this feature – the uninsurable feature – and hopefully it will, then we would expect to see – and that should be on calendar this fall – we would hope to see insurance companies doing what we think they really have an obligation under California law to do, and that is to do, what?  To deny coverage under the Elder Abuse Act.  Premiums go down and this crisis, such as it is, should be over.


Now, the effect of doing that would be to restore nursing operators to the same position that any other business enterprise in California which engages in malicious, fraudulent, or oppressive conduct faces:  liability, which is uninsured.  It’s my belief that it’s the prospect of awards based on uninsurable conduct under the Elder Abuse Act which will bring the conduct of any profit-oriented businessman into line.  Only then can we expect compliant behavior from those who accept the responsibility of caring for our elderly.  As long as insurance premiums continue to be reimbursed, however, we won’t see that.


In any case, I think there is no legitimate insurance crisis on the table today.  I think it’s been contrived by the nursing home industry, candidly, which somehow manages with a straight face to assert that the cost of liability insurance premiums has cut into their profits and even compelled some to file bankruptcy.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  Questions?


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Just a comment.  I have before me Ms.  McGinnis’ Advocates for Nursing Home Reform report, 2001, saying – and I found her to be a very credible witness, in my experience with her over many years – what the industry wants – number 6 on page 2 – is last, but not least, they want the taxpayers to pay for their higher premiums.  This gentleman says it already happens.  Something’s wrong with those two statements.  They don’t fit.  


I just want to put that out – they don’t fit – and maybe we ought to ask why your statement is there and what’s this about.


MR. BALISOK:  I don’t think it’s a secret, but I brought with me considerable information on the subject, including who you can call within the Medi-Cal department at OSHPD, the Office of Statewide Health Planning and Development.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Would you please get that information to the committee?  We’ll share that with Members.  I think this has raised lots of questions for the Judiciary Committee, Senator Vasconcellos’ subcommittee, this committee, and the Insurance Committee.  There’s a whole range of issues.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Ms. McGinnis apparently has a – when do you want to hear her?  Maybe later, at some point today.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, I was going to go through the rest of the participants on “Perspectives.”


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Right, but she has some comment on this point I just raised.  The discrepancy is glaring, and I want to know what the truth of it is.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  If we could have Ms. McGinnis come forward, that would be helpful.  And I apologize, we will get to you all.


MS. McGINNIS:  It’s not an inconsistency to us.  What I mean by that statement is that the nursing home industry has and they’ll continue to ask for an increase in the Medi-Cal reimbursement based on and justified by the fact that they’re going to have increased premiums.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  But he’s saying it happens automatically without anybody asking for it.


MS. McGINNIS:  An increase in the Medi-Cal premiums.  Well, but they’re asking for more money.  You know that.  It’s not broken out.  Their per diem isn’t broken out by how much.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Ms. McGinnis, I’m aware of the requests for increases in rates.  I’ve been involved with that, as you know.


MS. McGINNIS:  Right.  Exactly.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  He’s saying that apart from that rate increase, this automatically just goes up every year.  Right now, period.  Without asking.  I want to know more about that and ask our staff to find out the truth of that.


MS. McGINNIS:  I don’t believe that my statement is inconsistent, in that they want yet another Medi-Cal rate increase and they want to justify that rate increase on the basis of increased premiums.  I agree absolutely with Mr. Balisok, in that those kinds of premiums and rate increases are not justified.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Because, in fact, they’re reimbursed, not simply reimbursable.  They’re automatically reimbursed; therefore, a request for Medi-Cal rate increases isn’t justified based on premium increases.


MS. McGINNIS:  That’s part of it, but it’s also in the context with the other things.  There’s other reasons.  You engage in a high-risk business, you expect to pay.  My premiums went up in terms of unemployment insurance, and now it’s going down again because nobody’s drawing on it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


I believe Mr. Brent Moss is the next speaker.  Just so that Members know, we do have other representatives from the nursing home industry who are also, probably, going to contradict this, and we’ll get to them.


I’ve know we’ve gone over on everybody, but try to not let us interrupt you with questions.


MR. BRENT MOSS:  I understand.


I want to formally introduce myself.  My name is Brent Moss.  I was formerly employed as senior litigation attorney for Beverly Enterprise, Inc., in Fort Smith, Arkansas, and formerly employed as senior Medicaid fraud counsel in the Arkansas Attorney General’s Office, in charge of recovering or prosecuting nursing homes for civil penalties and criminal abuses.  I have since moved to Woodland Hills, California, where I’m in private practice with the law firm of Maher, Guiley & Maher.


I’d like to echo some of the things that Ms. McGinnis talked about earlier.  We do have a crisis.  The crisis is in patient care that’s being afforded to nursing home residents in this country.  It’s not unique to California.  The General Accounting Office in Washington has chronicled abuses in nursing homes going back to 1996.  From 1996 forward, we’ve seen Senator Grassley, Senator Breaux, and our own Senator Waxman speak out on the issue of patient abuse and neglect in nursing homes.  In fact, in July 2001, Senator Waxman stated that—


[Interruption – inaudible]


MR. MOSS:  Congressman, I’m sorry.  I just moved here.


SENATOR KUEHL:  And he’s your Congress member.  (Laughter)


MR. MOSS:  The issue that those gentlemen have looked at, in particular Congressman Waxman, is, again, patient abuse and neglect.  In fact, in July of 2001, Congressman Waxman stated that since 1996, “Patient abuse and neglect has tripled in nursing homes.”  There is a direct causal link to patient abuse and neglect as it relates to patient liability lawsuits.  When you have patient abuse and neglect, you’re going to see an increase in the number of lawsuits, and you’re going to see an increase in the premiums that are paid by operators.


It’s important to note that in California – I’m sure Mr. Balisok would concur with me – we have seen instances where residents – and I’ve passed around some photographs of cases that are in my office – we’ve seen instances where residents are left with bedsores the size of dinner plates.  We’ve seen instances where residents have pressure sores or cubitus ulcers or bedsores on areas of the body that are clearly avoidable; most notably the back of the head, the ears, and the coccyx.  We have clients now where their family members or loved ones were left in nursing homes with maggots that infested or migrated into a trachea tube and then on into their bodies.  Those instances that I’m describing we’ve also seen in the GAO reports.


It’s important to note that what is being put forth here today, in terms of the crisis as it relates to the bankruptcies, the insurance premiums, and the closures, these arguments have been put forth by the nursing home industry in other states.  In the last year-and-a-half, in Arkansas, Mississippi, and Tennessee, these same issues were put forth to those legislative bodies and were shot down by those legislative bodies in those states.  So, that’s important to note.


As far as insurance premiums, again, it’s my opinion – and I certainly don’t have any data to back this up – but it’s my opinion that pre-September 11 and post-September 11, there was a stagnant stock market as well as no joint venture capitalistic participation in terms of contributing money to the insurance industry or contributing money to start up insurance companies.  As a result, you saw an increase in the premiums.  Most importantly, in the mid-’90s – or, actually, the early ’90s – throughout, up until 2000, we saw competitiveness amongst insurance providers.  As a result, premiums were artificially low and the insurance companies sat on fat reserves.  When they recognized that they had fat reserves, the premiums went up.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Two things you’ve said just don’t make any sense.  This hearing, to me, is mind-boggling.  I’ve heard nobody so far that I would listen to for another five minutes actually, other than Ms. McGinnis, frankly.  You just said that there was new money in the market, therefore they were competitive.  Then there was no new money but there was still the same companies there to be competitive.  I don’t understand that.


I’ve got to leave for another hearing, but that one didn’t fit.  Then they had fat reserves so they increased premiums.  That’s kind of backwards from, what I understand, anything else mathematically.


MR. MOSS:  I’ll make a reference to Maurice Greenberg, who is the CEO of AIG, one of the largest insurance companies in the country, and I’ll attribute that statement to Mr. Greenberg, who did say that throughout the ’90s, insurance companies were competitive with one another, and because they sat on fat reserves, in addition, the insurance premiums were artificially low and, as a result, they had to be increased to cover—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  When they lost their reserves?


MR. MOSS:  No.  As they recognized that they could not cover the fat reserves.  That, again, is not only my opinion but I think it’s corroborated by Mr. Greenberg.


SENATOR VASCONCELLOS:  Doesn’t make any sense to me.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please continue.


MR. MOSS:  The other issue, and most noticeable, is the issue of managing a nursing home’s risk.  That really increases the premiums, and I think in some of the pictures that I’ve shown you here today, it’s clearly recognizable that when you provide care that’s depicted in those pictures, your insurance premiums are going to increase.


So, looking long term – and I’ll finish up – I think what needs to happen is the nursing home industry needs to manage or allocate their risk better.  They need to invest more in frontline caregivers.  They need to have mechanisms in place or policies and procedures in place to make sure that residents don’t lie in their own urine and feces; residents are fed; residents are hydrated; and residents are taken care of.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


We have three final speakers; two that I think are going to present information that may likely contradict the other speakers.  I want to try to make sure that you’re not interrupted or that we don’t do commentary too early on, but rather, direct questions that are constructive.


Welcome.  I believe the next speaker is Mr. Mark Reagan.


MR. MARK REAGAN:  Thank you very much.


I am general counsel to the California Association of Health Facilities.  I’ve been working in the long-term care field for over eleven years and know several of the folks up here.  I know that what this committee is going to need to grapple with is very technical, and what’s been presented so far is very technical, and there are, certainly, different points of view.


Before I get into what I wanted to talk about, what I think are structural and systemic problems that have led to this and what we sincerely perceive to be a crisis, I’d like to respond to three points that Mr. Balisok raised.


First, I’d like to read from the definition of neglect that is the linchpin of whether there is or is not civil liability under the elder abuse laws.  It is defined as “The negligent failure of any person having the care or custody of an elder or a dependent adult to exercise that degree of care which a reasonable person in a like position would exercise.”  The reason why there is insurance coverage, at least for the defense of abuse and neglect cases, is because the standard that is triggered under the law is not that of willful or intentional behavior but of professionally negligent behavior.  That’s why there is insurance coverage for this, because the standard speaks to negligence.  That’s number one.


Number two, the Medi-Cal program will not reimburse the costs incurred for liability insurance for any provider this year.  For those who have worked with that rate system, rates are calculated based upon cost reports that are at least two years old, which, looking at the numbers supplied by the Department of Insurance, is a far cry from what folks are experiencing today.  And then, when rates are calculated, they’re not calculated based upon the actual costs of that.  There is a very complex methodology that sets, ultimately, a flat rate for long-term care facilities per day, based upon how large they are and where they are.  And so, the claim that somehow facilities are being reimbursed the cost of insurance that they are experiencing today is just not the case.  I know that’s very technical, and I know that we’ll be supplying that level of detail.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.


MR. REAGAN:  Third, with respect to the Covenant Care case – and I wish Senator Kuehl would be here to hear this because it’s an issue that is of interest to  her – it has nothing to do with insurance at all.  It has to do with whether or not a judge has to allow a claim for punitive damages to be presented to him or her and apply certain standards for claims of abuse and neglect, i.e., whether or not some of the protections that exist under the law for healthcare providers, much as those contained in MICRA, apply to these claims or not.  Is there going to be a gatekeeper that’s going to let those claims come through the gate or not?  It’s not about insurance.  I don’t even know where that is at.


But let me tell you what I think we experience on the provider side that has caused costs to get to the point where they are.  One of the things that I think is important for the committee to get first is that we are not the only state that either has experienced this or will experience this.  There are several things that each state that has gone through this same set of circumstances has shared in common with one another.  


The first, and something that Mr. Balisok was personally involved in eleven years ago, was the creation, as he said, of the Elder Abuse Civil Protection Act.  It was designed to be able to allow seniors to gain access to counsel.  At the time when it was proposed, what we said to Mr. Balisok was anytime that a consumer is going to allege a claim for professional negligence, if this act is passed the way that it’s being proposed, it will inevitably, also, produce the claim that there was abuse or neglect.  And the reason why is that the standards and the definitions are so open-ended under this law, as well as the use of other statutory protections, that it is very, very easy to make allegations of this type, which are extremely powerful before juries.  Accurate or inaccurate, they have tremendous emotional components with them.  


The open-ended nature of that has created a huge volume of claims; the type of expenses that the Department of Insurance commented upon, that Senator Vasconcellos wanted to know what they are about.  They are about litigation expenses.  The information that I have gleaned in talking to a number of general counsel is that it costs between $300,000 and $500,000 to defend a claim of elder abuse and neglect, ultimately, through trial.  And if the plaintiff wins one dollar in that case, then what’s going to happen is they’re going to get their entire amount of fees paid as well.  There is an unlimited attorney fee provision and an open-ended statutory cause of action.  Each of those things, if you look at your chart that I believe was prepared for you that looks at what other states have done, you will see on that list the same issues which were issues on limits on attorneys’ fees; and the AON report, if you have a chance to review that, will explore the issue of statutory causes of action.  


The third piece, and the one that’s also present on this chart, that has been present in each one of the states that have gone through what we’re going through now, is the fact that, as part of these cases, this centerpiece of them are the survey results done by the Department of Health Services, overseen by Ms. Klutz, and that those regulatory findings are what essentially the long-term care facility is put on trial for.  The cases that are brought are less about the facts of what happened to the patient but that company, that industry, and that facility’s regulatory history.  And those states – for example, on this list – that have created limits on admissibility of those types of survey reports have found that to be helpful in terms of trying to curtail the costs.  You heard some testimony about how those same survey results are used as part of the insurance underwriting process.


Now, we’ve talked over the years, all of us, about those particular survey reports, and one of the things that I’d like to stress about it – and we’ll provide this particular level of detail to you – is that at least three reports, either commissioned by CMS – which used to be the Health Care Financing Administration of the United States Government, that funds half of the Medi-Cal program and requires the states to do these particular surveys that we’re talking about – or those consultants that they have retained, have determined on three separate occasions, since 1996, that those survey findings are completely unreliable, create false positives in terms of the existence of regulatory deficiencies, and yet, they are used as the centerpieces of these cases.


These three structural issues – the open-ended nature of those statutory provisions, the unlimited amount of attorneys’ fees which, in my experience, end up being two or three times the amount of any sort of compensatory damage award that’s made, and, third, the use of regulatory information that was never designed to be used as part of the measure of damages for civil liability – are all the shared components that, in the National Law Journal’s recent description of the largest single jury verdicts over the last year, three of the top twenty-five involved nursing homes with a high of $312 million, $78 million, and in this state we’ve experienced as high as $95 million for something like a fall of an accidental nature that has turned into the facility on trial and not about the facts involving the particular patient.


I want to stop now.  I want to be able to open this up to Ann Burns Johnson and Mr. Hansel, but we want to provide the type of information that will be helpful to all of you, and maybe we could spend some time talking about that, to be able to shape what would be the most helpful information to the group.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.  We have run over time.  I actually have a meeting in my office I’m supposed to be at right now, but it appears that I’m not going to be able to do that. 


We do have two more speakers, Ms. Ann Burns Johnson, as well as, Mr. Peter Hansel of the Senate Office of Research.  Let me ask those remaining speakers to try to move through their testimony quickly to allow opportunity for questions.


Welcome.


MS. ANN BURNS JOHNSON:  Thank you, and I will go as fast as I possibly can.


I’m Ann Burns Johnson, and I am the president of the California Association of Homes and Services for the Aging (CAHSA).  Our association represents nearly 400 not-for-profit providers of housing and services to 80,000 Californians.  


CAHSA is unique among the providers of senior care and housing because our members provide a continuum from independent living to assisted living to skilled nursing.  Our members also represent the economic diversity of California’s aging population – a population that’s growing twice as fast as the under-65 population, so the issue isn’t going to go away.  One-half of our members represent affordable housing, so we provide shelter to the poorest of the poor.


My testimony focuses on three facts that underscore the urgency of this crisis.  One, there is no empirical relationship between facilities’ experiences and the increased costs of their liability insurance.  Two, this is not only a skilled nursing home problem.  And three, tax-exempt bond covenants require providers to have liability coverage or to be in technical default.


Here’s one example of the problem:  One of our multi-facility members, based here in Sacramento, sent out twelve requests for liability coverage to be effective January 1st of this year.  This organization received only one bid at four times the coverage, four times the cost, at significantly less coverage.  This company has not had any increase in claims or experienced any litigation over the past seven years.  Its renewal also forced its extensive network of affordable housing providers to be coupled in with its skilled nursing liability insurance premium increases.  These costs are going to be forced onto the very poor of the poor who live in these facilities.  Basically, the entire long-term care system is being threatened by the skyrocketing liability costs.  


Huge increases in liability premiums jeopardize longstanding community-based programs provided by our members.  In the face of rising costs, our members are struggling with decisions to continue programs that have long been part of their mission and part of their community.  Programs like the Brown Bag program for the poor in Oakland, free information referral programs offered by Eskaton in Sacramento, or an intergenerational daycare program offered by St. Paul’s in San Diego.  All are at risk due to high insurance costs.


Some of our members have decided to discontinue the provisions of skilled nursing because the risks simply outweigh the benefits.  


For some providers, the high cost of liability insurance has forced them to take their chances and go bare (without coverage).  For many CAHSA members this is simply not an option.  Tax-exempt bond covenants require maintenance of liability insurance provided by an A-rated carrier, not simply an insurance carrier but one that’s “A” rated.  Without insurance, they are in danger of technical default, and for the thirty-seven not-for-profit providers that are insured by the state’s Cal Mortgage Guarantee Loan Program, the problem is going to fall back on the state.


CAHSA has long advocated for alternatives to nursing homes.  The California Department of Health Services should hire more staff to implement the expansion of the PACE program – the program for all-inclusive care for the elderly.  This is a program born in California that is now being outstripped in other states because we are failing to keep up with the demand for it.  But regardless of alternatives, there is always going to be a need for skilled nursing facilities because the population is aging.  


CAHSA strongly supports many of the points made by Mark, and we really want to emphasize that one major part of the problem is the survey process.  Errors in the healthcare environment are not new.  There’s extensive literature describing problems in a variety of healthcare settings, and what emerges is the recognition that there is no consistent, systematic, learning-based approach to error reduction and prevention.  One expert compares aviation and health care.  They both rely on equipment and highly trained professional teams, but the truth of the matter is that the aviation industry has a much better track record in error prevention than does health care.  In aviation, the Air Safety Reporting System enables pilots, controllers, and others to report dangerous situations, including errors they have made, to a third party.  


Given the increasing demand for senior services as California’s population ages, California needs a nursing home quality system that is not punishment driven but learning based.  It is incumbent upon the stakeholders to work together to develop a system that will work for all of California.


Thank you for the opportunity.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you. 


As you could tell, the Chairwoman had to leave to attend to her appointment, but we will continue.


Mr. Hansel, I understand you’re next?  Thank you.


MR. PETER HANSEL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Peter Hansel with the Senate Office of Research.


I was asked by the committee staff to provide an overview of other states’ efforts to address the issues that you’re talking about today dealing with insurance availability and costs.  I’m presenting factual information.  We’re really not advocating reforms in any of the areas that are being discussed, at least on this panel.


What we have done thus far is not exhaustive analysis but we did do an overview of reforms that states either enacted or introduced in 2001 and 2002.  Those are summarized in the chart that Mr. Reagan referred to that, hopefully, everybody has.


In summary, I can tell you, last year three states did enact comprehensive reform bills of one sort or another to deal with nursing home liability insurance issues.  Those were Florida, Texas, and Arkansas.  According to the information compiled by the National Conference of State Legislatures, which is also summarized in a report that is available, another half dozen states or so are considering additional reforms in 2002.


As we see it, the reforms being discussed in the states kind of fall into three categories, and we tried to highlight those in our chart.  The first is the area of tort reforms, which is what we’ve been discussing largely among the last few speakers.  These are reforms designed to change the rules of civil liability, the rules of tort, and reduce, in many cases, exposure to insurers and nursing homes for liability having to do with elder abuse.


The second is what we would call insurance reforms, which really have to do with trying to address market failures, spreading of risk on a more broad basis, and improvement of risk management.


The third area of reform are what we would call licensing reforms, which have been reforms that have really been designed primarily to address quality of care issues that have an impact on insurance rates and litigation.  The latter category, we have not included an exhaustive overview of states’ efforts to address quality of care because it’s too immense, it’s too vast, and many of the reforms that have been adopted have been adopted in California, and we didn’t bother including things like addressing staffing ratios and penalties for citations and so forth.  What we tried to do is to include licensing reforms that did have more of a direct bearing on insurance – we thought would have some bearing on insurance risk.


In the area of tort reform, a number of reforms, as you can see, have been adopted or introduced in states.  Florida’s statute, for example, that was passed last year, as we see it, included at least six major areas of tort reform, and Mr. Reagan referred to several of them.  I won’t go through them in detail in the interest of time, but they are summarized in the first column in our report.  


I think it is worth noting – and again, I’m not an attorney, but looking at this as a policy analyst – it does appear that the California statutes in some cases do mirror or already anticipate changes that have been addressed in other states.  I think the primary one is Florida’s statute that fundamentally changed the burden of proof for asserting elder abuse claims from a strict negligence standard to where a home could be found negligent, even if there was a showing of adverse incident and harm to a resident.  The new law shifts the burden to the plaintiff, and I think that already exists here.  It is important to disentangle how much of what’s under discussion in other states is already in place in some form here.


In the area of insurance reforms, the primary reform that states have been looking at is the creation of risk pools, and it’s really to address the problem that’s been discussed along the way here of insurers abandoning the market, not enough insurers in the market, and nursing homes not being able to get coverage.  It’s been done through a couple of mechanisms.  The primary one is what Texas did last year in creating a Joint Underwriting Authority, which is basically a state association to which all liability carriers in the state are required to belong, which operates as sort of an insurer in its own right and sells an insurance product, collects premiums for it, develops reserves by including a surcharge to policyholders, and, importantly in some cases, has the ability to levy surcharges on insurers across the board to make up for the reserves to cover the claims.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  How long has that been in place in Texas?


MR. HANSEL:  Just put in place.  There’s only one home, we understand, that’s actually being covered under that.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  It sounds very much like our Earthquake Authority.


MR. HANSEL:  It is similar in many ways.  It’s a residual insurer.  I should also add that in California the authority was on the books until about 1996 for the Insurance Commissioner to establish a Joint Underwriting Authority to address liability insurance availability problems in general.  Or, I shouldn’t say “in general.”  Of many kinds.  And the statute spelled out the procedure to do that and the conditions under which the Commissioner can do that, but that authority expired in 1996.  That might be something to look at resurrecting in some form if the problem continues.


In addition, in the area of pooling, a couple of states have done innovative things to help capitalize the risk pools.  One has been alluded to as the use of Medicaid reimbursement.  At least one state – Florida – has sought a waiver to allow an add-on to Medicaid rates for a reserve charge, if you will.  They seek to pay the homes an additional increment, which is not for services but it’s to a creative reserve, either a self-insured reserve or to contribute to a pooling reserve of some kind, to help capitalize the pool.


The other mechanism that Texas has created in their statute is a Revenue Bonding Authority where the state is empowered to issue revenue bonds and raise capital if needed and recoup it over a long period of time through an assessment mechanism, again on insurers.  They’ve not used that authority, and I’m not sure that they will need to, but if they do, the authority is there.  And that’s a way of spreading out the payment burden of raising capital quickly to deal with shortfalls.


The last area of licensing reforms, the trend that we see is that most of the reforms have fallen into the category of involving a state more proactively and identifying homes at risk of being cited for deficiencies and lawsuits and intervening more proactively to try to assist and consult with them.  The last four items in the last column, I think, would go in that category.  Both Florida and Texas have created something called Quality of Care Monitors, which operates separate from the licensing inspection process, but they are trained staff that monitor homes on a more ongoing basis.  They offer consultation, and they offer recommendations.  They do have to cite homes if they see serious problems.  In the case of Florida, their work was largely exempted from discovery in civil cases.  So, it’s an attempt to provide more of a technical assistance role.


Florida has also increased the staffing to placement of staff in what they would call “troubled homes” – those that have recurring problems with  deficiencies – to be able available on a more ongoing basis to assist the nursing home operators in complying with quality standards and addressing risk management practices to try to reduce their exposure.  


The Department of Health Services, we understand, does something similar through a pilot project and is seeking to expand that.  So again, the model for that is in place in California.


I guess if we were going to make recommendations, and it’s a little hazardous to do it, but three things that we would offer for consideration – and one of them was suggested by an earlier speaker – would be to try to increase the amount of information that’s coming to the state on elder abuse claims, settlements, and judgments on a more systematic basis.  We don’t think there’s a database available to really ascertain what kind of claims are coming in, what is the basis for the claims, what kind of evidence are they based on, and so forth.  In addition, in the area of information collection, we would urge the Department of Insurance to either be given authority or directed to collect market information on a more regular basis in this area and fill in many of the gaps in the information base that we have on the insurance side.


The second area that we would recommend looking at would be trying to promote implementation of what are referred to as “best practices” for risk management in nursing homes and loss control.  There are a number of standards for that, and many homes comply with them already and are required to as a condition of their insurance, but it’s not clear that all do.  The state could play a role in either helping develop those standards and/or requiring homes to implement them.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  For those homes that comply or perform best practices, do the insurance companies give them a discount?


MR. HANSEL:  Well, it’s interesting.  In Texas, what the state did is the insurance commissioner adopted a set of best practices for risk management.  The statute doesn’t require the insurers to take that into account, but it sort of expresses the intent that they consider that in setting their rates.  What we understand from the state is the insurance commissioner is looking carefully to see how those practices will be taken into account in the insurance market, and they may well come back a little later.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  I’ve visited homes that are doing a good job, and I think that some of them are painted by the same brush, and there are some that are just outrageous.  I would never put a loved one in there.  And those are the ones that we want to make sure that we bring up to speed because we know that there’s a large need.  And also, I know that there’s laws in place already, and the problem is that nobody’s monitoring and we’re not getting the information.  That’s what I think that you’re all saying, is that we need to make sure people are complying with what’s in the books currently.  I don’t think we have to reinvent the wheel, and I think there are some states that are following what we’ve already got in place.  They’re just doing a better job of monitoring.


MR. HANSEL:  They might be doing a more systematic job of trying to implement and ensure that those kinds of practices are followed.  That’s correct.


The third area I guess we would offer for consideration would be, as I mentioned, giving back the authority to the Insurance Commissioner to establish a Joint Underwriting Authority.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  And that was removed in 1997, you said?


MR. HANSEL:  Our understanding is it expired in 1996.  It was a general authority that was on the books.  I think it extended for two years, from ’94 to ’96, and then it expired and has not been resurrected.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Well, we’ll have a new Insurance Commissioner to deal with.


MR. HANSEL:  That concludes my testimony.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you.  Thank you, ladies and gentlemen.  Appreciate your time.


SENATOR VINCENT:  Madam Chair?  I’d like to make a comment before I go because I’m totally frustrated hearing all of this.  


You know, as I look at this document, it says Health and Human Services Committee.  It also says Aging and Long-Term Care.  But it seems to me the bottom line here is money.  We’re talking about money.  Everybody here, all the witnesses that you’ve had, everybody has a big title.  Either somebody is a chief, they’ve got a Ph.D. here, somebody’s a director here, this person is a commissioner here, this person is a counsel general, this person is from the Senate Research office.  These people are all intelligent.  We need some “dumb” people here.  We need some dumb people here to try to get this thing solved.


Senator Vasconcellos raised some tremendous points, and he said it doesn’t make sense.  A lot of things don’t make sense to me either.  Somebody says there’s a crisis, another person says there’s not a crisis.  We’ve listened to attorneys speak, and none of us are attorneys – Senator Kuehl is – and then somebody shows pictures like this.  We know these things exist.  But you know what?  If we decide to pass a law, we should pass a law saying, first of all, it’s against the law to be poor and you can’t live long.  That should be the law because we’re not going to get anything done here because everybody is here for a special interest.  It’s not about people getting old.  It’s about money.  It’s all about money.  


I didn’t come here to cause confusion.  I came here to maintain it, because it’s a joke, some of the things I’ve heard here today.  This is why I requested a document of each person’s testimony.  It seems to me that everybody who testified should exchange notes with each other, and when we do come back with the workshop, maybe we can solve some of these problems through laws which Senator Vasconcellos may have in mind.  I think we should have a workshop.  


But, this is very frustrating, and I’m sorry I was late.  I just came here from a home down in Los Angeles, and there is abuse there, there is neglect.  As a matter of fact, somebody mentioned Senator Grassley from Iowa.  I went to school in Iowa.  Played football there, went to hospitals there.  Matter of fact, my father-in-law was in a nursing home in Iowa, and I brought him out here because it was better.  It was better here, but there were a lot of the same problems.  


I wish we’d all get sincere and look at the situation.  More older people are existing everyday.  This problem’s not going to go away, and it is a crisis.  If somebody doesn’t think that, they should be on a spaceship somewhere.  


Let’s talk about insurance for a minute.  I’ve got a couple of cars.  I’ve got liability and I’ve got comprehensive, but every time I have a wreck I have to pay for it myself, because if I have a wreck and turn it in, they’re going to throw me out.  The insurance companies must have made thousands and thousands and thousands of dollars off of me personally, and I know they’ve done it with a lot of other people.  It’s supply and demand.


So, we’ve got listen to you guys who are intellects here and come up with some kind of laws so we can protect people who are poor and people who are necessarily going to get old.


I was more impressed with, I think, Ms. Johnson’s statement than any other statements, and I think we all need to take a look at them.  To me, it’s very frustrating.  As a matter of fact, I’m a good example myself.  My wife and I, I’m looking to the future, but I’m able to afford long-term care insurance now that the state has offered it.  And a lot of us should get involved in it because the state’s offering it.  I can see what’s going to happen down the line, and again, I would hope we would be more sincere.  We should have these workshops and develop legislation that would take care of poor people and would take care of old people because it’s not happening now.  The insurance situation is the reason for it.  I was born at night, but not last night.


That concludes my comments.


SENATOR FIGUEROA:  Thank you, Senator Vincent.  I appreciate your statements.


Ladies and gentlemen, thank you for your time.


Now we’re going to open it very briefly for any public comment.  If the public has any comments to make, this is the time to do that.


Thank you very much then.  This hearing is adjourned.
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